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Highlights in 2012

In February, the two-piece cans production lines in Chengdu and Tianjin completed installation and testing
successively and commenced trial production;

In April, the package design of the Hui Shang Wine (#{#8) series, which was designed by the Group,
participated in the “Yearbook of Chinese Design Works 2012 (20124 # Bl : 5T F 28)” competition and was
selected for the “Yearbook of Chinese Design Works 2012 (Packaging)”;

In May, the Group acquired Hong Kong-based Paulian Investment Holding Limited, through which we
acquired the controlling shareholding of Sino-Asia Plastic Package (Tianjin) Co. Ltd.;

In June, the Group was awarded the 7th “CAPITAL Outstanding China Enterprise Award (Integrated
Packaging Industry)” issued by the Capital Magazine;

Two-piece cans production lines in the Package design of the Hui Shang Wine
Chengdu and Tianjin (17558 series

Sino-Asia Plastic Package (Tianjin) Co. Ltd. 7th “CAPITAL Outstanding China Enter-
prise Award (Integrated Packaging Indus-
try)” issued by the Capital Magazine
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Highlights in 2012

CONTENTS 5. In July, the Group established a joint laboratory with Centre Testing International Corporation, and shared
EE technologies regarding figure comparison of food safety standards and pretreatment methods of hazardous
substances in packaging products;

6. In October, the Group successfully completed the placement of 166 million new ordinary shares and
received net proceeds of HK$904 million. This placing event was well-responded and attracted a number
of well-known international institutional investors, which improved the market liquidity of the shares;

7. In November, Hangzhou CPMC was recognized as the “2012 Leading Company of the Metal Packaging
Industry of China”, and was awarded the “Golden Award of Leading Company” for being named as one of
the leading companies in this industry for the sixth consecutive year. Mr. Zhang Xin, an Executive Director

CORPORATE and the General Manager of the Group, was elected as the “Leader of the Industry” again;
INFORMATION
RAEH 8. In December, the new Zhenjiang factory with an additional production capacity of 3.2 billion pieces of

easy-open ends was formally put into production. The Group was selected as the “Best Management of a
Company in Asia (Consumer Goods Industry)” by Euromoney for our excellent operation and management
in 2012.
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New Zhenjiang factory
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “CPMC”") for
the year ended 31 December 2012 (the “Year”).

In 2012, the Group adhered to the market-oriented and customer-centered approach and pushed forward
strategic goals. Apart from developing our own business, we also actively seized opportunities of mergers and
acquisitions, and conducted placing in a timely manner to improve our shares liquidity. In 2012, the Group
recorded sales of approximately RMB5.05 billion, an increase of 16.2% as compared to the previous year; profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB323 million, representing year-on-year
growth of 15.1%.

The global economy waded through difficult times in 2012. Under a complicated and challenging economic
backdrop, the PRC government implemented active fiscal policies and stable monetary policies. The
Government also insisted on carrying out structural adjustment of the economy and reform in public affairs.
Through a balanced approach to economic growth, structural adjustment and price stability, the domestic
economy has succeeded in making moderate yet steady growth. According to the data from China’s National
Bureau of Statistics (“NBS”), China’s GDP grew by 7.8% in 2012 as compared to 2011 while the disposable
income of urban residents per capita increased by 12.6% and the annual retail sales of consumer goods in the
country surged by 14.3%.

Bolstered by the continuous and steady increase of national income, the sales of consumer goods grew rapidly,
which also benefited the growth of the packaging industry. The Group takes a proactive approach to respond to
the demand for the quality and safety of products, the service of enterprises and green production from down-
stream customers, and vigorously pushes forward the improvement of internal management. We also conduct
mergers and acquisitions from time to time to consolidate our leading position in the industry, perfecting the
layout of the industry to facilitate business growth. As a testimony of our outstanding performance in 2012, the
Group was awarded the 7th “CAPITAL Outstanding China Enterprise Award” by the “Capital” magazine and the
“Best Management of a Company in Asia (Consumer Goods Industry)” by “Euromoney”. At the same time, the
Group endeavors to fulfill its social responsibility and shows great concern for the community, employees and
the environment, for which the Company was awarded the “Caring Company” logo.

Looking forward into 2013, the global economy is still under adjustment and the financial crisis lingers on, while
the domestic economy is still seeking a new equilibrium. Facing a complex international and domestic situation,
the Group will continue to focus on market exploration and investment focusing on and making efforts to meet
the demands of customers, through which our vision of becoming “the leader in the integrated consumer goods
packaging market” can be accomplished gradually.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere appreciation to the management and all the staff of
the Group for their valuable service and contribution during the previous year. | would also like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders for their continuous support
to the Group.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2013

CPMC Holdings Limited



| have the pleasure to report to the shareholders that the Group realized a turnover of approximately RMB5.05
billion for the year ended 31 December 2012, an increase of approximately 16.2% year-on-year. Profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company reached about RMB323 million, up around 15.1% as compared to
approximately RMB280 million of 2011. For the year ended 31 December 2012, basic earnings per share was
approximately RMB0.37 (2011: approximately RMB 0.34).

The board of directors recommends the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.029 (equivalent to HK3.5 cents)
(2011: RMB0.035 (equivalent to HK4.3 cents)) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2012,
subject to the approval obtained at the annual general meeting to be held on 7 June 2013. The proposed final
dividend will be distributed on or after 11 July 2013 to the shareholders of the Company whose names appear
on the shareholders’ register on 18 June 2013.

Amidst the complicated international and domestic economic environment, the Group focused on the strategic
objective of being “the leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China” in
2012. We achieved stable growth in both business and market value of the Group through continuously focusing
on maintaining and developing strategic customers, ensuring the progress of our major projects, promoting
mergers, acquisitions and integrations, enhancing corporate management and successful placing.
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In 2012, our metal beverage cans business continued to grow rapidly and overall sales income increased
by 25.3% over last year. The three-piece beverage cans business grew steadily and the two-piece beverage
cans business achieved rapid growth, while we continued to expand the production capacity of the two-piece
beverage cans in order to satisfy the strong demand of our downstream customers. We were able to release
additional production capacity readily while maintaining the high utilization rate of our original production
capacity. The two-piece cans production lines in Chengdu and Tianjin were completed and commenced
trial production successively in February and March 2012, and formally put into production in June and July,
respectively. We achieved increase in both production and sales volumes and introduced a new products: the
500ml aluminum cans. A total of about 2.38 billion two-piece cans were sold during the year. The production
capacity expansion projects of our two-piece cans production lines in Hangzhou and the Southern China
Region, which will be put into production in 2013, have been implemented as scheduled. Moreover, the orderly
implementation of the layout of our two-piece beverage aluminum cans business and the gradual release of
production capacity will further enhance the competitiveness and performance of the Company.

The integrated metal packaging business of the Company achieved stable growth. The Company fully utilized
the production capacity of the easy-open ends and printed and coated tinplates businesses, and was able to
serve its external customers with our best effort while satisfying the rapidly increasing internal demand. We also
realized the rapid growth of our milk powder cans and barrels businesses and the steadily growth of our aerosol
cans business by effectively enhancing the gross profit level of the ordinary food cans and expanding to new
markets. Meanwhile, the Company closely monitored the new trend of demand of our clients and the market
conditions, and started up the one-piece aluminum cans project as a response. Currently, the production line is
under installation and testing, which is expected to commence production in May 2013.

The plastic business is one of the key developing businesses of the Group. During the year, the Group
continued to promote the integration and release of the additional production capacity. Closely monitoring
the market changes, the Group successfully completed merger and acquisition and further improved the
layout of our plastic business in the Northern, Eastern and Southern Regions in China and was admitted to
the supplier network of some renowned brands including P&G and Avon. In 2012, the sales income of plastic
business amounted to approximately RMB260 million, up about 32.0% as compared to 2011. With the gradual
improvement in the layout of our plastic business and the smooth implementation of business integration, the
influence of the Company plastic packaging markets of personal care and household chemical products will be
elevated, which will in turn facilitate the continuous growth of the results of the Company.

In 2012, the Group kept focusing on scientific research and works regarding product quality and safety,
improving technological innovation management system, strengthening R&D information management and
enhancing the technological innovation platform by enhancing cooperation with external institutions, including
the R&D platform with several colleges and institutions such as Zhejiang University and Baosteel. During
the year, the Group continued to promote the implementation of mandatory projects such as reform project
of printing and coating stoves system and waste treatment furnace. By such technological innovation, we
succeeded in reducing energy consumption and cost, which contributed approximately RMB40 million to the
profit of the Company.



The Company has actively fulfilled our social responsibility and cared about our staff. We promote physical
and mental health of our employees by implementing friendly and caring measures; promote environmental
protection, energy saving and emission reduction through effective environmental protection measures; as well
as express care and love to the society through sponsoring various activities such as Rehab Power Day and
Edu-aid program. During the past year, the Group was awarded the “Caring Company” logo by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service and recognized as a “Caring Entity in Poverty Alleviation (]R8 &0 87)” by China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation.

Looking forward to 2013, it is expected that the PRC economy will grow at a steady pace, the level of
urbanization will increase and the domestic consumer goods market will develop rapidly, laying a solid
foundation for the healthy and sustainable development of the downstream packaging industry. With the
growing trend of integrated professional packaging services and innovative green packaging, the environmental
and safety standards of products will become more and more stringent. As a result, the market players in the
industry will be further consolidated, which will benefit the development of packaging enterprises equipped
with large-scale operations and comprehensive layout of production capacity. The Group is confident with the
prospect of our business. Being the largest metal packaging enterprise in the PRC, the Group will fully seize
the opportunities and cope with every challenge we face, so as to provide quality products and services and
enhance shareholders’ value.

Zhang Xin
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 25 March 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
ERERAR AT

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods such as food,
beverages and household chemical products including tea drinks, carbonated drinks, fruit and vegetable
juices, beer, dairy products, personal care products and household chemical products. In addition, the Group
provides integrated packaging solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics
and comprehensive customer services. As the largest manufacturer of metal packaging in China, the Group
endeavors to be “the leading manufacturer of packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China”.
The products portfolio of the Group mainly include metal beverage cans (two-piece beverage aluminum cans
and three-piece beverage tinplate cans), integrated metal packaging products and plastic packaging products.
As at 31 December 2012, the Group conducted its business through 18 operating subsidiaries and over 20

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE factories, which are distributed strategically in different regions in China, in order to provide effective services to
REPORT the customers of the Group. The Group ranked first in many market sub-segments and attracted and gained the

NS A A
ERREAS trust of many domestic and international renowned clients. The Group has a well-established customer base,

including domestic and international renowned consumer goods manufacturers.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
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EEREAEE
AR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

METAL BEVERAGE CANS

2012 2011 Change (%)

Sales (RMB’ Million) 2,769 2,210 25.3%
Sales volume (can’ Million) 4,273 3,184 34.2%
of which: Three-piece cans (can’ Million) 1,889 1,717 10.0%
Two-piece cans (can’ Million) 2,384 1,467 62.5%

The metal beverage cans manufactured by the Group include three-piece beverage tinplate cans (“three-
piece cans”) and two-piece beverage aluminum cans (“two-piece cans”) which are widely used, mainly
for the packaging of carbonated drinks, beer, tea drinks, protein drinks, energy drinks, congee, fruit and
vegetable juices and coffee.

The Group is a leading metal beverage cans manufacturer in China, which possesses 14 advanced
technology three-piece cans production lines, and four two-piece cans production lines equipped with
international leading technology. For the year ended 31 December 2012, the sales of metal beverage
cans was the major source of income of the Group, the sales volume for the year were approximately
4,273 million cans, the sales income was approximately RMB2,769 million, increased by approximately
25.3% as compared to 2011, accounting for approximately 54.9% of the overall sales of the Group (2011:
approximately 50.9%). The two two-piece cans production lines of the Group in Hangzhou and Wuhan
were running at full gear throughout the year. The other two two-piece cans production lines located at
Chengdu and Tianjin reached the production target rapidly in July 2012. Such production lines generated
production capacity immediately after operation commenced, which effectively improved the gross profit
margin of metal beverage cans business.

The sales of the three-piece cans amounted to approximately 1,889 million cans (2011: approximately
1,717 million cans), representing an increase of approximately 10.0% as compared to the previous year.
The increase in sales was primary attributable to the increase of approximately 14% in sales to three-piece
cans clients other than JDB as a result of the continuous development of new clients while cooperating
with the Group’s strategic client, JDB, in its marketing activities related to its branded herbal tea and
realizing rapid growth in sales to JDB. The Group’s major clients of three-piece cans were JDB, Red Bull,
LolLo, Dali Group, Yangyuan and Want Want Group, etc.

The two-piece cans, one of the main focuses of the Group’s business development, continued to maintain
its rapid growth momentum and delivered an outstanding performance again. During the year ended
31 December 2012, the two two-piece cans production lines of the Group in Hangzhou and Wuhan
were running at full gear. The other two two-piece cans production lines located in Chengdu and Tianjin
obtained certification from our key clients after the successive completion of the installation and testing
during the first quarter of 2012. These two two-piece cans production lines were put into production in
July, and generated production capacity to satisfy the needs of the nearby clients. The total production
volume of the two-piece cans in 2012 reached approximately 2,384 million cans (2011: approximately
1,467 million cans). During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group optimized the network of its two-
piece cans business. In order to serve our clients better, in addition to the two-piece cans production lines
in Hangzhou, Wuhan, Chengdu and Tianjin which have commenced production successively, the Group
steadily promoted the construction of the second two-piece cans production lines in Hangzhou and the
arrangement of the production capacity in the Southern Region in China. The major clients of the Group’s
two-piece cans were JDB, Tsingtao Brewery Group, China Resources Snow Beer, Coca-cola (China), and
Anheuser-Busch InBev.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

U tE ° INTEGRATED METAL PACKAGING

DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
SEBRRR DA 2012 2011 Change (%)
RMB’ Million RMB’ Million
Sales
of which: Food cans 381 323 18.0%
Aerosol cans 333 316 5.4%
Metal caps* 592 632 (6.3%)
Printed and coated tinplates*® 149 177 (15.8%)
Steel barrels 383 303 26.4%
CORPORATE Other 179 184 (2.7%)
GOVERNANCE
REPORT Total: 2,017 1,935 4.2%

TEERES

* Note: Not included the internal demand for easy-open ends and printed and coated tinplates products

The integrated metal packaging business of the Group includes food cans, aerosol cans, metal caps,
printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels and other metal packaging. The Group is in a leading position
in several product segments of the integrated metal packaging business in China, including ranking the
first in market sub-segments such as milk powder cans, aerosol cans and twist caps in China in terms of
market share.

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT For the year ended 31 December 2012, the sales of the integrated metal packaging business of the
g;;é@ﬁﬁ Group was approximately RMB2,017 million (excluding the sales of approximately RMB102 million from
AR the increased volume of easy-open ends for internal use during the year ended 31 December 2012),
representing an increase of approximately 4.2% as compared to 2011 (2011: approximately RMB1,935
million), accounting for approximately 40.0% of the overall sales (2011: approximately 44.6%).
Food cans
The products for the food cans business include milk powder cans and ordinary food cans. The Group
REPORT OF THE : . . . . :
DIRECTORS is the largest manufacturer of milk powder cans in China. The sales income of food cans business was
B2eRs approximately RMB381 million for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: approximately RMB323

million), representing an increase of 18.0% as compared to 2011. Benefiting from the food product
enterprises’ emphasis on the quality and safety requirements of packaging products, the increasing
concentration of the downstream industry and the effective control on costs of the Group, the business
of milk powder cans maintained a rapid growth, with sales income amounting to approximately RMB327
million (2011: approximately RMB264 million) for the year ended 31 December 2012, increased by
approximately 23.9% as compared to 2011. The orders for milk powder cans of the Group have increased
drastically. The renowned clients of the Group include Mead Johnson, Wyeth, Beingmate, Yili, Unilever and
Amway, etc.

Aerosol cans

The Group is the largest manufacturer of aerosol cans in China, which products mainly consisted of
household chemical products packaging e.g. car accessories, air fresheners, personal care products,
pesticides and other chemical products. Attributing to the increase in orders for car accessories, the sales
income of the Group was approximately RMB333 million for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011:
approximately RMB316 million), representing a growth of approximately 5.4% as compared with 2011. The
renowned clients of our aerosol cans business were Shenzhen Caihong, SC Johnson, Ador, Kangda and
Amway, etc.

1 4 CPMC Holdings Limited




Management Discussion and Analysis

Metal caps

The products of the metal caps business include twist caps, crown caps and easy-open ends. The sales
income was approximately RMB592 million for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: approximately
RMB632 million), representing the decrease of 6.3% as compared to 2011. The easy-open ends for internal
use of the Group amounted to approximately RMB387 million (2011: approximately RMB285 million,
representing an increase of approximately 35.8%) was excluded. During the year ended 31 December
2012, the Group promoted the development of new clients for our products, focused on cost control,
enhanced the productivity, resulting in a growth of approximately 6.2% in the sales of twist caps. With
the significant increase in the sales of the Group’s beverage cans, almost all the production capacity of
easy-open ends was used to satisfy the internal demand, which in turn further reduced the external sales
income. In response to the continuous increase of production capacity of the Group’s beverage cans, our
additional easy-open ends production line was constructed as scheduled and put into production at the
end of 2012. The annual designed production capacity of the additional easy-open ends production line
was approximately 3.2 billion pieces. The renowned clients of the Group’s metal caps business are China
Resources Snow Beer, Anheuser-Busch InBev, Tsingtao Brewery, HADAY, Huanlejia and Lao Gan Ma, etc.

Printed and coated tinplates

The Group’s printed and coated tinplates are used in gift candy boxes, food, chemicals, caps, batteries
and other electronic and electric appliances (e.g. rice cookers). The products are also used to satisfy the
Group’s demands on the Group’s cans (three-piece cans) and caps (twist caps, crown caps). The sales
income was approximately RMB149 million for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: approximately
RMB177 million). The renowned clients of the Group’s printed and coated tinplates business are Sinopec,
Supor, Panasonic (Shanghai) and Midea, etc.

Steel barrels

The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres and above, which are used for carrying
edible oil, juice, fruit jam, industrial essence and fragrance and lubricants, etc. During the year ended
31 December 2012, the Group consolidated and integrated the acquired businesses and reinforced
its management, further enhancing the Group’s market share through the effective formulation and
implementation of sales strategies. The realized sales income for the year ended 31 December 2012 was
approximately RMB383 million (2011: approximately RMB303 million), which increased by approximately
26.4% as compared to 2011. The renowned clients for the steel barrels business of the Group are
PetroChina and KCC, etc.

PLASTIC PACKAGING

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, food and
beverage and household chemical products. The sales income of the plastic packaging business for the
year ended 31 December 2012 was approximately RMB260 million (2011: approximately RMB197 million),
representing an increase of approximately 32.0% as compared to 2011, accounting for approximately
5.2% of the overall sales. The Group actively carried out merger and acquisition in 2012. In February
2013, the Group completed the acquisition of the Victorial Industrial Limited and Sino-Asia Plastic Package
(Zhongzhan) Co., Ltd., which will further improve the arrangement of the Group’s plastic production
capacity in the Northern, Eastern and Southern China, and will in turn further enhance the sales income
generated from the Group’s plastic products. The renowned clients of the Group’s plastic packaging
business are P&G, Reckitt Benckiser, Johnson & Johnson, Blue Moon and Johnson, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

As at 31 December 2012, the sales income of the Group was approximately RMB5,046 million (2011:
approximately RMB4,342 million), representing an increase of approximately RMB704 million or 16.2%. The
growth of the metal beverage cans and the plastic businesses were particularly remarkable. The gross profit
margin showed a slight increase in 2012, which reached approximately 16.7% (2011: approximately 16.0%).

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 of the Group reached approximately RMB333 million (2011:
approximately RMB286 million), representing an increase of approximately 16.4% as compared to the same
period in the previous year. This was mainly attributed to the adoption of additional measures such as technical
innovation, technological transformation and management enhancement, which lowered cost and increased
efficiency, and in turn guaranteed the continuous profitability of the Group.

GROUP PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the operating profit before tax of our Group was approximately RMB438
million (2011: approximately RMB363 million), which increased by approximately RMB75 million or 20.7% as
compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB46.0 million (2011: approximately RMB31.2 million), which increased by
approximately RMB14.8million as compared to the corresponding period last year, which was mainly attributable
to the increase in the bank loans interest.

Tax expense was approximately RMB105 million (2011: approximately RMB77 million), which increased by
approximately RMB28 million or 36.4%. The effective income tax rate of the Group for 2012 was approximately
24.0% (2011: approximately 21.3%).

OUTLOOK IN 2013

Looking forward to 2013, it is expected that with the steady recovery of the PRC economy and the rise in
household income level, the domestic consumer goods market of the PRC will continue to grow steadily and the
Group is optimistic about the prospects of the Group’s corporate development. The Group will closely follow the
demand for domestic integrated consumer good packaging in order to provide comprehensive solutions with
quality, reliable and safe tinplate packaging, aluminum packaging and plastic packaging products. In 2013,
the Group will steadily implement the production capacity expansion project of two-piece cans, the smooth
implementation of the first one-piece aluminum cans production line and the orderly commencement of the
merger and integration of the Group’s plastic businesses will further diversify the Group’s product portfolio,
enhance the Group’s market competitiveness and reinforce the Group’s leading position in the industry, and,
thereby, safeguard the sustained and healthy development of the Group.
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CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group’s main source of funding was cash generated from operating
activities, bank loans and share placement.

As at 31 December

2012 2011
RMB’(Million) RMB’(Million)
Net assets 3,652 2,638
Cash and cash equivalents 1,677 1,612
Total borrowings 2,421 2,191
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 3,550 2,654
Current ratio 1.52 2.38
Gearing ratio* 21.0% 22.7%

* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, in
which the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB3,652 million (2011: approximately
RMB2,638 million). Amount attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately RMB3,550 million,
which increased by approximately 39.0% as compared to approximately RMB2,554 million as at 31 December
2011,

As at 31 December 2012, the current ratio and the gearing ratio were approximately 1.52 and approximately
21.0%, respectively (2011: approximately 2.38 and 22.7%, respectively). The gearing ratio decreased from
approximately 22.7% as at 31 December 2011 to approximately 21.0% as at 31 December 2012. It was mainly
attributed to the share placement of 166 million shares in October 2012. The interest bearing bank borrowings
increased from approximately RMB2,191 million as at 31 December 2011 to approximately RMB2,421 million as
at 31 December 2012. Among the bank borrowings, an amount of approximately RMB604million was one-year
short-term loans and RMB1 billion, which will mature in 2014, with an on demand clause. This amount was
used as an addition to the working capital. For the details of bank borrowings together with the fixed interest
rate bank borrowings as at 31 December 2012 are set out in Note (26) to the audited financial statements. As
at 31 December 2012, there were no pledged asset for acquiring the bank borrowings and finance. As at 31
December 2011, the carrying amount of the pledged assets for acquiring the bank borrowings and finance was
approximately RMB148 million.

In view of the Group’s current level of cash and bank balances, the normalized cash flow generated from
operating activities, the unutilized banking facilities available to the Group and a relatively low debt level, the
management of the Company believes that the Group’s financial resources are sufficient to fund its foreseeable
capital expenditures and debt repayment requirements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB971 million, which details was
as follows:

Percentage to

Total capital

RMB’ Million expenditure

Chengdu two-piece beverage aluminum cans and plants projects 127 13.1%
Hangzhou one-piece aluminum cans and two-piece beverage

aluminum cans projects 216 22.2%

Infrastructure in Tianjin and manufacturing equipment projects 104 10.7%

Panyu two-piece beverage aluminum cans and other equipment projects 212 21.8%

Zhenjiang easy-open ends project 132 13.6%

Purchases of other equipments 180 18.5%

Total 971 100.0%

As at 31 December 2012, the capital expenditure of acquiring property, plant and equipment was approximately
RMB377 million,which has been contracted but not provided. Other than operating lease commitments and
capital commitments, as at 31 December 2012, the Group had no other significant commitments and contingent
liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits which
are in U.S. dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash balances are denominated in RMB. The
directors of the Company consider that exchange rate fluctuation had no significant impact on the Group’s
results.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had 6,388 full-time employees (2011: 6,299), of which 1,616 were
engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows the
number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2012:

No. of Percentage of
Function employees total sum
Management and Administration 697 10.9%
Sales and Marketing 282 4.4%
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 870 13.6%
Production and Quality Control 4,539 71.1%
Total 6,388 100.0%

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB423 million (2011: approximately
RMB346 million). The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their performance, the standard
of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The benefits of the employees in the
PRC included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and job-related
injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has
made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan, which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for
the benefit of the Group’s employees when they reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong
Kong included mandatory provident fund, life insurance and medical insurance.
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USE OF PROCEEDS UPON ISSUANCE OF NEW SHARES A

DISCUSSION
In November 2009, the Company issued 230,000,000 new shares of par value HK$0.10 each pursuant to the ﬁggé%%'g;;ﬁ
Company’s initial public offering, raising net proceeds of approximately RMB1,000 million (or approximately

HK$1,141 million), all of which have been used according to the use of proceeds as stated below:

As at 31 December 2012

Planned amount Utilised amount
RMB’ (Million) RMB’ (Million)
Capital Expenditure Projects:
— Wuhan project 383 (383) CORPORATE
— Chengdu project 144 (144) GOVE@%’;%
— Panyu project 180 (180) EERRS
— Other projects 120 (120)
Repayment of bank loans 96 (96)
Working capital 77 (77)
Total 1,000 (1,000)
In October 2012, the Company further issued 166,000,000 new shares of par value HK$0.10 each pursuant
to the business development needs, raising net proceeds of approximately RMB736 million (or approximately DIRECTORS AND
HK$904 million), which is mainly used to invest in the Guangzhou two-piece beverage cans projects, Hangzhou SENIOR
one-piece beverage cans projects and general working capital. The remaining portion of the net proceeds has MANAEE'B"FEE
been placed as short-term deposits with licensed financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. EERSRER
AB
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
BSegt
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

N
P Shareholders

N
PQ Board of Directors

Q Remuneration

External \
Auditor '

The board of directors of the Company (“Directors” or the “Board”) are fully aware of the importance of
corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes that a good and solid corporate governance
framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty
and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its position as a leading manufacturer of packaging
products for a comprehensive range of consumer goods. The Company had adopted all the code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that since the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 November
2009, the Company has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company, in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximize the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Upon specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2012.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
in the best interests of the shareholders and for maximizing the shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate
strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the financial and management performance of the
Group as a whole.

The Board currently comprise a combination of two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report.

Executive Directors:
- Mr. Wang Jinchang (Chairman)
—  Mr. Zhang Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
- Mr. Ning Gaoning

- Mr. Zhou Zheng

—  Mr. Hu Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:
- Mr. Shi Wanpeng

- Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

- Mr. Fu Tingmei

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of Directors is set out on pages 40 to 41 of this annual report.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-third
of the Board. Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, who is one of the independent non-executive Directors, has a professional
qualification in accountancy. One of the important duties of an independent non-executive Directors is ensuring
and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the
review of continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board
confirms that the Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation
of independence for the year ended 31 December 2012 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers such Directors to be independent.
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Functions of the Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal
of maximizing shareholders’ return. The Board has the following main duties:

° determination of all the corporate matters;

e Dbe responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;
e Dbe responsible to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;
e formulating business strategies and business plans;

e planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;
e  evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and
° annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the managing director of the Company (the “Managing Director”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The Managing Director is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board of Directors

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and the senior management. On 23 October 2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee upon the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations, business
strategies and day-to-day management to the Managing Director and senior management. The final decision(s)
are still under the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the three
committees.

Chairman and Managing Director

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and Managing Director are
separated and are not performed by the same individual. In effect, Mr. Wang was appointed in January 2011
as the Chairman who is responsible for the Group’s business strategic and effective operation of the Board.
Furthermore, the Chairman encourages and facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities
and constructive relations between executive and non-executive Directors. With the support of the executive
Directors and the senior management, Mr. Wang ensures the Directors receive adequate information, which is
complete and reliable, in a timely manner. The Managing Director, Mr. Zhang Xin, is primarily responsible for the
executive management of the Group’s daily operations and to ensure the Group’s business plans and strategies
are effectively implemented to achieve the goals of the Group.
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Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term
of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years from 23 October 2009. Each
of these service agreements and letters of appointment will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by serving not less than three months’ prior written notice or three months salary in lieu of such
notice.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provide that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also under
the Company’s Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Company’s
Articles to remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in the Company’s Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Company’s Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly.
During the year ended 31 December 2012, 4 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings
in person or by telephone in accordance with the Company’s Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting
attendance is as follows:

Attendance/Total meetings

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jinchang 4/4
Mr. Zhang Xin 4/4

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning 4/4
Mr. Zhou Zheng 4/4
Mr. Hu Yonglei 4/4

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Wanpeng 4/4
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 4/4
Mr. Fu Tingmei 4/4

According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are usually served to all Directors
before the meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to
all Directors. Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary
to include any matters in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with
comprehensive briefing papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.
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General meetings with shareholders
The 2012 annual general meeting (2012 AGM”) was held on 7 June 2012. The attendance record of the
Directors at the 2012 AGM were as follows:

Attendance/Total general meetings

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jinchang 171
Mr. Zhang Xin 171

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning 0/1
Mr. Zhou Zheng 0/1
Mr. Hu Yonglei 0/1

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Wanpeng 0/1
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 171
Mr. Fu Tingmei 11

Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of
written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his associates have any material interest in any
proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a meeting of
the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in which he
or any of his associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the Company’s
Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2012/2013. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board. Among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Company secretary
Mr. Chan Fan Shing had been appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 23 October
2009. The company secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional
training requirements.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making
contributions to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous
professional development during the year ended 31 December 2012.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Jinchang v v
Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ning Gaoning v v
Mr. Zhou Zheng v v
Mr. Hu Yonglei v v
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shi Wanpeng v
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v v
Mr. Fu Tingmei v v

Audit Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2012. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 3/3
Mr. Hu Yonglei* 3/3

*

Independent Non-executive Director
# Non-executive Director

The financial controller of the Company and the Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes
drafted by the Company Secretary had been circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable
time after the meetings. No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of
the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements

of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company'’s website.
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The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

e review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;
e monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management system; and

e  consider the independence of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, the internal control system and financial reporting matters. The Audit
Committee also reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s interim and annual
reports, the letter to the management from the auditors of the Company and the audit scope and fees for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year ending
2013.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

e review of the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;

e recommendation of the re-appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2012 annual general
meeting of the Company; and

e assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
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The composition and the details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Wang Jinchang (Committee Chairman)" 1/1
Mr. Ning Gaoning (Committee Chairman)* N/A
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 1/1
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 1/1

Independent Non-executive Director

# Non-executive Director. On 5 March 2012, Mr. Ning Gaoning resigned as the chairman and a member of Nomination
Committee.

Chairman of the Board. On 5 March 2012, Mr. Wang Jinchang was appointed as the chairman and a member of
Nomination Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

° review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management of the Company; and

o review and discuss the share option matters of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2012 are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the

Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.
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The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2012 to assess and review the
remuneration packages and overall benefits for the Directors and the senior management of the Company. The
composition and the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman)* 11
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 1/1
Mr. Wang Jinchang* 1/1
* Independent Non-executive Director

# Executive Director

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2012. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The internal control system
has been designed to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. It should provide a
basis for the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in compliance with the relevant rules and
regulations. The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of internal control system (including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions) of the Group. The Board
considered that the internal control system is effective and adequate and the Company has complied with the
code provisions on internal control of the CG Code.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.

Auditors’ Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December
2012 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 1,750
Non-audit services™ 1,016
Total 2,766

*

Such services included tax consultancy services, interim review, compliance review relating to continuing connected
transactions and other non-audit services.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognizes the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the shareholders to communicate
directly to the Board;

(i) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(i) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company’s and Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv) holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to time.
There is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders and complete presentations are made when
financial results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website
and raise enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the
Company’s website; and

(v) shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Friday, 7 June 2013 (the
“2013 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditors. At the 2013 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and
the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
will be available thereat to answer questions from the shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, the Company should arrange the notice to shareholders to be sent in the

case of annual general meetings at least 21 clear days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 clear days
in the case of all other general meeting.
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Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, any two shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings may request the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the
Board of the Company. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company has not made any changes to its Articles. An up
to date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2013 AGM. The shareholders
will be allowed to have one vote for every share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at
the meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The Group provides environmental-friendly packaging and high-quality service, that is world-decorating, life-

MANAGEMENT
embellishing and devoted to our customers, shareholders and employees. Giving back to the community is DISCUSSION AND
an important element in the Group’s corporate culture. The Group strives to prevent environmental pollution, ANALYSIS

_ , C EBEHILRAN
reduce energy consumption and waste discharge, promote employment, care for our employees’ living and

development, and take part in a variety of social welfare activities.

1. Employees

The Group has always placed a strong emphasis on human resources development. As previous, we
complied strictly with the national and local regulations in 2012, and the labour relationship was handled
properly. Through paying attention to the career growth and development of the staff, adjusting the staff CORPORATE

salaries, putting more effort on incentives and care for staff, and strengthening communications with staff, GOVERNANCE
REPORT

ERERRS

a harmonious relationship was established, which made the Group an ideal employer for the employees.
(a) Career growth and development of staff

In 2012, the Group continued to put great efforts on human resources development. We provided
more specific training to enhance the capability and standard of our team. For examples, collective
training for fresh college graduates was organized, and “906 new talents occupational training
camp” was held continuously. A total of 1,776 training sessions were organized and the total number
of trainees was 5,456. Training mainly included corporate culture, business etiquette, interpersonal

relationships, communication and collaboration. Focusing on the large number of young employees, D‘RECTOgghﬁgg
a committee of the Group also invited the management to join the “906 youth growth class” to share MANAgE’g‘FEl’EE
their own experience of career development and provide help to our young employees on career EERES
planning. Besides, basic knowledge and skills trainings were provided to front-line staff, which helped EEARMN
the staff to master the knowledge required for their positions. We continued to launch the “achieve
a bit of improvement from every lesson” activity and encouraged all staff to participate. Throughout
the year, a total of 5,632 sessions were held and the number of participants reached 47,520. The
main theme of the activity was to share the small advancement and small improvement on work,
such that the keys for improvement were shared among our staff and the lecturing skill of our internal
trainers was strengthened. A training method that combined live lecture with video and focused on REPORT OF THE
benchmarking management was adopted at the director’s level. Through such initiative, the theoretical DIRECTORS
knowledge on benchmarking management was put into practice more efficiently. A total of 3 general RS

managers training courses were launched in 2012, which mainly targeted the person in charge of
each department, and the total number of participants was 66. The content of the training included
production management, equipment management, and logistic management. At the same time, the
subsidiaries organized various skill competitions, such as plate changing competition, soldering iron
competition, lid testing competition, mold changing competition, speed competition on 3 kinds of
testing, packaging worker skill competition, scroll shearing unit skill competition, lid producing unit
skill competition and testing unit skill competition. According to the statistics, the Group organized
27 labour competitions in 2012, which reached around 1,100 participants, and the awards amounted
to about RMB510,000. Of which, the printed and coated timplates division of Hangzhou COFCO-MC
Packaging Co., Ltd. received the 2012 “Worker’'s Vanguard” honor, while Mr. Xiaofeng Shen from the
stamping factory won the namesake award of “Xiaofeng Advanced Operation Method for Anti-Scratch
Lid”.
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MANAGEMENT (b) Staff Safety, Incentive and Caring
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS We persisted to implement the benefits and remunerations policies of our staff in accordance with the
EREHURAN . . . . L

relevant PRC laws and regulations, including full payment of various statutory social insurances and
the entitlement to national holidays, as well as adjustments of salary from time to time in accordance
with the requirements of the government and the actual conditions of the enterprise. In 2012, the
Company strictly complied with the requirement of the government to adjust wage level, which
increased labour costs by approximately RMB15,000,000. Moreover, the Group adopted numerous
measures which at the same time increased productivity and the actual income of the staff steadily.
The year-on-year growth of the staff average wage income was 15.8% in 2012 and the satisfaction
level of our staff with their salaries has obviously increased. In addition, supplementary commercial

CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE insurances such as accident and medical insurance were provided to the core staff. The scope of

REPORT the annuity had been established and enlarged, and the staff meals as well as the labour protection
TEERES

equipment were also improved. Furthermore, innovative incentive measures were introduced, and
through special incentives such as monthly ranking, “highlight appreciation”, “red and yellow warning
signs”, and “achieve a bit of improvement from every lesson”, management enhancement activities
which focused on the benchmarking management, team establishment, and the five-level assessment
were carried out smoothly. Through such measures, the performance of the team was promoted and
more win-win situations would be achieved by the enterprise and the staff. During the process, we
took the initiative to organize appraisals and give honors to different outstanding models. The total

number of organizations and individuals awarded by the supervising department accumulated to

DIRECTORS AND . . .

SEN|8RO ° about 30, while advanced prizes awarded to workers was approximately RMB1,000,000.

MANAGEMENT

g;;é%& On the staff caring aspect, the party, government and labour union of the Group made a series of

EEABMN improvement measures in connection with the vital interest of the staff such as canteen, dormitory,
shuttle and physical health. New facilities were added to the staff dormitory of our subsidiaries in
Panyu, Tianjin, Chengdu and Wuhan with a view to providing a comfortable living environment to our
staff. Apart from the original basic facilities such as laundry, public bathroom with heat supply, big
screen TV for public use, huge amount of funds was invested to the installation of air-conditioners and
water heaters in every room. Moreover, a “Staff Library” was built and various basic facilities, such as
REPORT OF THE billiards, table tennis and badminton court, were installed. For example, in August 2012, the company
DIRECTORS in Chengdu invested RMB270,000 for air-conditioner installation in the dormitories, while RMB450,000
EEERE was used for canteen improvement. In order to improve the dormitory conditions, the company in
Hangzhou invested around RMB300,000; the company in Wuxi spent around RMB30,000 annually to
lease badminton court for its staff, such that employees can exercise for two hours after work. Among
which, the company in Wuxi was awarded as the qualified unit of “Harmonious Union with Happiness”
by the New Area Federation of Trade Unions. Hangzhou COFCO Canmaking Co., Ltd. received the
2012 “Cup of Safety and Health in China”, while CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. received the 6th Staff Track
and Field Games Excellent Organization Award by the Federation of Trade Unions of the Economical
and Technological Development Zone.

Caring about our staff who Chess Championship
experienced difficulties in 2012
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Furthermore, the Group established a case file for the staff experiencing difficulties. Through public

MANAGEMENT
notice confirmation, the file would be updated annually timely. The party, government and labour union DISCUSSION AND
would visit relatives of staff who were in difficult times or dispatched overseas. Moreover, donations ANALYSIS

EREmLRAN

would be granted to staff who encountered unexpected difficulties. With such measures, a sense of
care and warmth would be conveyed to our staff. This is the cornerstone of establishing a harmonious
labour relationship.

At the same time, in order to enrich the life of the staff, as well as to stimulate their vitality, the
party, government and labour union of the Group launched a variety of activities. For example, the
headquarters and the Hangzhou company held activities such as riddles and games during Mid-
Autumn Festival, “Exercise Makes Me Healthy and Happy — CPMC Staff Sports Festival”, travel

CORPORATE
activities for staff in the off-season of production, rope jumping competition and women talents GOVERNANCE
competition on Women'’s Day and mid-autumn forum; the company in Wuxi organized activities such REPORT

EERES

as the “Work with Cheers, Fun in Chess” — Chess Championship, “Wonderful Expansion in Harmony”
— Interior Expansion Activity for Front-Line Staff, “ Youth Glory Sharing” — Iltem Exhibition Activity; and
activities such as the health talks on health for females — “Pink Ribbon” activity, which is currently in
progress, and “My Team, my Home” speech competition. All of these have raised the sense of identity
and belonging of the staff towards the Company, the communication between staff and their esprit de
corps were strengthened as well.

(c) Staff communication

DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR

The Group has established a number of channels to strengthen the communication between staff. MANAGEMENT

Relatively senior staff and retired staff of the Group were invited to hold seminars during the Dragon g-g;RE?gL%TE

Boat Festival, Chongyang Festival and the eve before Spring festival. We also organized activities EBABEN
to collect suggestions on making reasonable improvement to our operation and proactively seek
opinions and recommendations from our staff on aspects such as company management and
production operation; the Company would make good use of mediums such as “CPMC Press”,
CPMC intranet, Weibo, Managing Director’s blog and QQ group, in order to strengthen information
exchange and shorten the distance between the Company and the staff, and to become the channel

for communication among the staff and between the management and staff.

REPORT OF THE

DIRECTORS

2. Independent Innovations, Energy Saving and Eco-friendly L

(a) Promotion of Creative Research and Innovations, Conservation and Efficiency Enhancement

In 2012, the Group started four main aspects of researches, which were materials saving technology,
automation technology, new printing technology and food safety with about twenty research projects
in total and the total research investment neared RMB10,000,000. These researches had delivered
favourable economic and social benefits. At present, the Group possesses a total of 50 patents, in
which 4 of them were invention patents, 29 were utility model patents, 16 were design patents and 1
was other types of patent.

(i) Conduct projects on research and development on innovation, promote technological
advancement and raw materials saving: Researches were carried out on the application of
numerous material saving technology on the basis of technological advancement. It mainly
included: research and application of aluminum and tinplates products thinning technology;
the research on the application of two-piece cans inner coating full sprayed film uniformity
technology; the development and application of foam plastic twists cap technology. The
implementation of these projects would not only reduce the expenses of the Company on raw
materials, but would also reduce carbon emission and deliver favourable economic and social
benefits.
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(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Promotion of automatic production: Through introduction, assimilation and self-research and
development, the automatic production technology was enhanced comprehensively, through
which labour intensity was reduced and production efficiency was increased. It mainly included:
metal printing video detection, through which fully automated detection and classification of
printings was achieved, which filled the domestic technological gap in this area. Such technology
raised the efficiency of detection significantly, which automation of printing detection was
revolutionary. For the high-efficiency coding cap technology, through the application of the design
of the sub-cap core wheel, the offline production for coding cap was achieved. Moreover, coding
cap customers were secured and sales were promoted. For the development of high-speed am
pre-roll feeding system, double pre-roll wheel feeding method was carried out with two pre-roll
wheel running simultaneously. Such technology increased the number of pre-roll per minute from
6 to 15. The standard of automation and the product output efficiency of the production line was
promoted. The application of the automated production technology reduced the labour intensity
significantly and raised the production efficiency.

Transformation and upgrading of traditional technology: Through the development and application
of the latest 6-colour UV high-speed printing line, the technological advancement of the metal
printing industry in China was improved. It mainly included: the successful application of 6-colour
UV high-speed printing technology. Such project introduced the 6-colour UV high-speed printing
line as the basic element. Through technological innovation, the featured products achieved
mass production with the use of UV printing technology, which received high recognition from
customers. Moreover, such project achieved the transformation and upgrading of the traditional
two-colour printing towards the high-speed multi-colour UV printing, and the capability of the
printing line to react speedily was raised; the labour usage was reduced and the production
efficiency was increased; gas consumption was reduced and win-win situation was achieved,
which marks a milestone of the Group in the transformation and upgrading of its printing
technology.

Development and application of food packaging with high safety standard: Through the research
and application of raw materials and manufacturing and processing technology with high safety
standard, food packaging materials with high safety standard were produced. It mainly included:
the successful development and application of the non-PVC cap sealing gasket with high safety
standard; the development and application of the paint which was free of biphenol-A, and the
patent of such invention was received. The implementation of these projects achieved the high
safety performance of metal packaging.

(b) Energy Saving and Eco-friendly

(i)

Environmental Management

According to the requirement of ISO14001, the Group established the environmental
management system and received the qualification successfully (subsidiaries in Hangzhou, Wuxi,
Panyu, Tianjin, Chengdu, Kunshan and Shanghai). We implemented controlling programs on gas,
water and solid wastes in order to carry out standardized waste management and improve its
effectiveness continuously.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Relying on the technological innovation as key steps of emission reduction, 1,800,000 cubic

MANAGEMENT
metres of natural gas were saved annually, while 2,000,000 kWh of electricity was saved and DISCUSSION AND
the carbon emission was reduced by 1,994 tonnes. Thus, the Group became the benchmark ANALYSIS

EREmLRAN

enterprise in the metal packing industry by its metal printing unit having a lower energy
consumption than its counterparts in the industry by over 20% and favourable social benefits
were achieved with examples as follows:

e  Through technological innovation, the way of handling waste gas emission was reformed
for the coating materials drying room, gas was saved and the exhaust gas emission was
reduced - 5 lines have been reformed;

CORPORATE

o Comprehensive implementation of variable frequency power saving for printing and coating GOVERNANCE
materials drying room — 16 lines; REPORT
tEEREE

e Integrated usage of the waste heat from drying room, air compressor and others;

e  The application of “UV solidification technology” multi-colour machine -- electricity and gas
saving performance was obvious and the production efficiency was promoted swiftly;

o Promotion on the development/application of variable frequency, servo technology, medium
frequency induction technology. Through such technology, the energy consumption and

the rejection rate were reduced for the cans and caps production lines; the production D‘RECTOEE,Q%
technology was optimized, and the production rate was increased with the same energy MANAGEMENT
consumption per unit. iggg;;
EEABMN
(i)  Promoting Environmental Protection

e  Water-saving: Through measures such as promoting the water-saving culture, the usage

of water-saving items and improved measurements to reduce the usage of water. Water

was saved by rainwater collection, recycling and re-use. Among which, the Hangzhou
company received “Water-Saving Enterprise in Zhejiang Province”, where there were only 18 REPORT OF THE
companies which have received the same honor in the province. At the same time, it was DIRECTORS
also awarded as the “ Hangzhou City Advanced Group in Water-Saving”. EREHS

e  Solid waste management: Disposal agreements for wastes were signed with environmental
protection enterprises, and wastes would be collected regularly. Used solvents would
be recycled and reused after processing, which reduced emission and protected the
environment and saved substantial costs.

Throughout 2012, the Group has contributed to the development of the society and
economy. Investment was increased and the business of the Company was continuously
developing. The total investment amount within the year was over RMB900,000,000, which
gave a strong impetus to the development of the economy. Through the transformation
on technology, implementing energy saving measures in production management, the
production efficiency was raised. At the same time, more efforts were put in environmental
protection, production safety and a super-eco standard was advocated, and greater social
and economic value would be created.
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(iii)  Community Services

CPMC Holdings Limited

Representatives of the Group joined the Atmospheric Environmental Remediation
Conference for the first half of 2012, which was organized by the Hangzhou Economic
and Technological Development Zone, to discuss the related issues on energy saving
and emission reduction; bonding activities were held with neighboring enterprises in June
and December in 2012 respectively, to discuss issues such as related experience on
human resources and development of the party; the Group joined the Beijing International
Packaging Fair in July 2012 and received the”4th Ranking among the Top 100 Packaging
Industry Players in China”; the Group was rated as the “Outstanding Packaging Brand of
China” for three consecutive years from 2010 to 2012 by the China Packaging Federation.
In October 2012, the Group joined the “Supporting Education 1+1 and Building Up with the
Joined Force from Urban and Rural Area”, organized by the Youth League of the Hangzhou
Economical and Technological Development Zone. Furthermore, we cooperated with
numerous colleges, such as Zhejiang University, Zhejiang University of Technology and
the Huanggang Polytechnic College in Hubei. In order to help students to put learning into
practice, we provided them with internship vacancies.

The Group took a proactive stance in participating in community services, supporting
charities, assuming corporate social responsibility and providing available corporate
human, financial and material resources. The Poverty Alleviation with Monthly Donations
was implemented since 2011, and the Group has organized this meaningful event.
Including the voluntary donations from staff on monthly basis, which amounted to around
RMB30,000, we had donated a total of around RMB500,000 to the China Foundation for
Poverty Alleviation until December 2012, and received the title of “Poverty Supporting Unit”
from the China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation. In September 2012, the Group donated
such sum to Kuaizhu primary school and Sheng Jiatian primary school, which are located
in the Tongquan Town, Marlon County, Qujing city, Yunnan Province, for the establishment
of “Outdoor playground” which are now in use. These are the supporting forces the Group
has contributed for the healthy growth and learning of children in poor areas. At the same
time, the Group made a number of donations for the China Foundation for AIDS treatment
with a total of RMB590,000 in 2012, and we received the certificate of appreciation from the
Chinese Foundation for Prevention of STD and AIDS.
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Moreover, we have strengthened the communication with the capital markets and media, and
we received the honor of “Caring Company” from the Hong Kong Council of Social Service
in February 2013, which is a recognition and encouragement for our efforts on the caring for
community and our staff, as well as the efforts on environmental protection.

—
Ko HWE

Pty

Awards Ceremony of Commencement of the
the Sports Festival Mentoring Program for current trainees

Group photo of the current trainees Mr. Zhang Xin, the General Manager,
led trainees of the
“General Managers Training Course”
to visit Wahaha Group
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

ZHOU Zheng WANG Jinchang ZHANG Xin HU Yonglei

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Jinchang, aged 58, is an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company. Mr. Wang is primarily
responsible for the overall management, major decision-making, strategic planning and business development of the Group.
He joined COFCO in 1990 and has served as the deputy director and director of the general manager's office, general
manager of the corporate management department of COFCO, as well as the chairman and general manager of COFCO
Development Company Limited. He joined the Group in December 2000 and was appointed as a Director and the Chairman
of the Board of the Company on 23 June 2008 and 16 January 2011 respectively. He has over ten years of experience in
the packaging industry. Mr. Wang served as an assistant to the chairman of COFCO since 2007, in charge of the packaging
business. Mr. Wang graduated from the Hebei University in 1978, with a major in Mathematics.

ZHANG Xin, aged 50, is an executive Director and a general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang is primarily responsible
for the operation management of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was appointed a Director on
23 June 2008. He has almost 20 years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice president of
the China Packaging Federation since November 2011. Mr. Zhang received a bachelor's degree in Aeronautical Machinery
Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983
and a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang
was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding contributions to the
development of engineering technology in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHOU Zheng, aged 50, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zhou is primarily responsible for providing constant
advice and guidance at the strategic level over the business and operations of the operating subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Zhou joined the Group in November 1994, and was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. He has over 15 years of
experience in the packaging industry. He has held the positions of the chairman of the board of COFCO Property (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (“COFCO Property”), a member of the COFCO which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2011. He
has been an executive director of the Hong Kong Parkview Group Limited, a listed company, since August 2012. Mr. Zhou
received a bachelor’s degree in Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master’s degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace Manufacturing
Engineering from Beijing University of Aeronautics & Astronautics in 1992. In 2007, Mr. Zhou was awarded the Governmental
Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding contributions to the development of packaging industry
in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

HU Yonglei, aged 45, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for reviewing the financial
reporting procedures and internal control system of the Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO in 2005 and the Group when he
was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Hu has over 10 years of experience in investment management. Mr. Hu
held the position of general manager of strategic division of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”) from
March 2007 to April 2009. Currently, he is a deputy head of the strategy department and general manager of the investment
management division of COFCO and also a director of Dalian COFCO Malt Co., Ltd.. Mr. Hu also held positions as a director
from December 2005 to August 2008 of China Resources (Jilin) Bio-chemical Co., Ltd. (now known as Xi'an Aero-engine Plc),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Hu received a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Xi'an Jiaotong
University in 1989 and a master’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in 1992.
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FU Tingmei NING Gaoning SHI Wanpeng CHENG Yuk Wo

NING Gaoning, aged 54, is a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Ning takes a supervisory role on the strategic and
budget planning of the Group. Mr. Ning joined COFCO in December 2004 and was appointed as a Director of the Group on
23 June 2008. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business
restructurings and governmental relations. Mr. Ning has held the positions of the chairman of the board and non-executive
director of China Agri since January 2007 and ceased to be the chairman of the board of China Agri since March 2012 but
remained as the non-executive director. He was the chairman of the board and executive director of China Foods since
January 2005 and ceased to be the chairman of the board of China Foods since March 2012 but remains as the executive
director. He has been the chairman of the board of COFCO (HK) and Top Glory International Holdings Limited and a director
of Wide Smart since January 2005, and the chairman of the board of COFCO since December 2004. Mr. Ning has been a
non-executive director and chairman of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
an independent director of Hua Yuan Property Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since October
2008; a director of Smithfield Foods, Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from August 2008 to March
2011; and an independent non-executive director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, since August 2012. Mr. Ning has also been a director of BOC International Holdings Limited since December
2003. He received a bachelor's degree in Economics from Shandong University in 1983, and a master’'s degree in Business
Administration from the University of Pittsburgh in 1985.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

SHI Wanpeng, aged 76, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Shi was appointed a Director on 23
June 2008. Mr. Shi has over 10 years of experience in the packaging industry and several years of experience in economic
management. Mr. Shi has held the position of chairman of the China Packaging Federation since October 2003. He was
a standing commissioner of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and an
alternate member of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party and he had also served in various government
departments. Mr. Shi has been an independent non-executive director of China South City Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, since September 2009, and an independent director of Huabei Expressway Co., Ltd. and ORG
Packaging Co., Ltd. since January 2008 and October 2012 respectively, both listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 52, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Cheng was appointed a Director
on 23 June 2008. Mr. Cheng is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr.
Cheng has over 20 years of experience in auditing, finance and business management. He has been the sole proprietor of
Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong since 1999. Mr. Cheng is currently an executive director of 21
Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director of the following companies which are companies listed on the
Stock Exchange, included CSI Properties Limited (formerly known as Capital Strategic Investment Limited), HKC (Holdings)
Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation, Chong Hing Bank Limited, South China Land Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited,
Imagi International Holdings Limited and Top Spring International Holdings Limited. Mr. Cheng received a bachelor’s degree
in Accounting from the University of Kent, England in 1983 and a master’s degree in Accounting and Finance from the
University of London, England in 1984.

FU Tingmei, aged 46, is an independent non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fu was appointed a Director on 23 June
2008. Mr. Fu has extensive experiences in investment, finance, law and business management. Between 1992 and 2003, he
conducted many corporate finance transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong including serving as
a director of Peregrine Capital Limited, and a deputy managing director and subsequently promoted as a managing director
of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu is currently engaged in private investments business. He is currently also an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited,
both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the University of London with a master's degree and a doctorate
degree in Law in 1989 and 1993, respectively.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2012.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The net proceeds from the issue of new shares of the Company (“Shares”) at the time of its listing on the Stock
Exchange on 16 November 2009 and after the exercise of the over-allotment option on 19 November 2009,
amounted to approximately HK$1,141 million (or approximately RMB1,000 million), which are intended to be or
have been applied in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 2 November 2009 (the “Prospectus”). As at
31 December 2012 and in line with the plans as set out in the Prospectus, the proceeds have been used as
follows:

(i) approximately RMB383 million have been used for the construction of production facilities in CPMC
(Wuhan) to produce metal and plastic packaging containers;

(i) approximately RMB144 million have been used for expanding the existing production facilities in CPMC
(Chengdu) for the production of beverage cans, food cans and printed and coated tinplates;

(iii) approximately RMB180 million have been used for expanding the existing production facilities in Panyu
MCP for the production of plastic packaging containers and printed and coated tinplates as well as for the

construction of logistics facilities and infrastructure;

(iv) approximately RMB120 million have been used for upgrading the existing production facilities of plant and
equipment for energy saving, environmental protection and quality assurance;

(v) approximately RMB96 million have been used for repaying bank loans; and

(vi) approximately RMB77 million have been used for general working capital purposes.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the

Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2012.
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Report of the Directors

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
as of that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 107 to 193. The Directors recommended the
payment of a final dividend of RMB0.029 (equivalent to HK3.5 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31
December 2012 (2011: RMBO0.035, equivalent to HK4.3 cents). The dividend will be reflected as appropriations
of retained earnings for the year ended 31 December 2012. An interim dividend of RMB0.043 (equivalent to
HK&5.3 cents) per ordinary share was paid on 15 October 2012 (2011: RMBO0.033, equivalent to HK4.0 cents).

The proposed final dividend of the year ended 31 December 2012 will be distributed on or after Thursday, 11
July 2013 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Tuesday, 18
June 2013 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice on Determination of Tax Resident Enterprises of Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises in accordance with Their De Facto Management Bodies” ({BREANEMR BRI EKIEEE
EIEMEZERTAERCEEBMERNEA)) (“Notice”), which was issued by the State Administration of
Taxation (the "SAT”) of the People’s Republic of China on 22 April 2009 and became effective on 1 January
2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall
be regarded as resident enterprises with de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered
resident enterprises” (FEENFMER1E2), provided that all of the following criteria are present or effected
in China: (1) senior management in charge of daily operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised
departments regarding financial management and human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books,
seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior
management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled
offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax
bureau where the de facto management body of Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based
and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

Pursuant to the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC” (the “Enterprise Income Tax Law”) and the “Detailed
Rules for the Implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC” (the “Implementation Rules”),
both implemented in 2008, and the Notice, since the Company is a Chinese-controlled Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises, the Company is likely to be regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise and, if so, it could be
required under the Laws of the PRC to withhold and pay Enterprise Income Tax for its non-resident enterprise
shareholders to whom the Company pays the proposed year 2012 final dividend. The withholding and payment
obligation lies with the Company.

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules, the Company is likely to
be required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2012 final dividend to
its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s
register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees Limited, corporate
nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or organisations, which are all
considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute the proposed year 2012 final
dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not withhold and pay the income tax
in respect of the proposed year 2012 final dividend payable to any natural person shareholders whose names
appear on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date.
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Report of the Directors

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company’s register of
members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited documents from its
governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay enterprise income tax
in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 13 June 2013.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees. The Company
will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in
accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and adhere strictly
to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The Company assumes no
liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or inaccurate confirmation of, the
status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

In the event that the Company is not regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise and hence no enterprise
income tax should have been withheld, to the extent that such tax remains in the custody of the Company and
so far as it is able to do so, the Company will procure an amount equal to such tax withheld in respect of the
relevant shareholders to be paid to the relevant shareholders whose tax had been withheld. The Company
would make a further announcement in such event.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 194. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the year are
set out in Note 14 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

In October 2012, Wide Smart Holdings Limited (“Wide Smart”), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
placed a total of 166,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the placing price of HK$5.51
per placing share. Subsequent to the placing shares, the Company issued 166,000,000 new shares at the
subscription price of HK$5.51 per subscription share under the general mandate, which were subscribed by
Wide Smart. Details of the placing and subscription were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
16 October 2012.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 are set out in
Note 28 to the financial statements.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of
the shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and
key employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any
directors (executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees
of the Group an option to subscribe for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; or
(iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of Offer.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
on the date when the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made
to a substantial shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the Shares at the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be
subject to approval of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) in general meeting taken on a poll.

Details of the movements in the share options during the year ended 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Number of share options
Name or Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed Date of grant Exercise
category of At during during during during At of share Exercise period price of
participants 01012012 theyear theyear theyear theyear 31122012 options of share options share options
Directors
Mr. Wang Jinchang 600,000 - - - - 600000 12102011 12.10.2013-11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Mr. Zhang Xin 500,000 - - - - 500000 12102011 12.10.2013-11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Mr. Hu Yonglei 300,000 - - - - 300000 12102011 12.10.2013-11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Other employees
In aggregate 6,900,000 - - - - 6900,000 12102011  12.10.2013-11.10.2018 HK$3.04

8,300,000 - - - 8,300,000

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended
31 December 2012.

RESERVES

The distributable reserves of the Company, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to approximately RMB2,000 as at 31 December 2012. In
addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of approximately RMB2,244,586,000 may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 30(b) to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
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Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2012, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
47.5% of the Group’s total sales. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 38.4% of
the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2012.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. WANG Jinchang (Chairman)
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. NING Gaoning

Mr. ZHOU Zheng

Mr. HU Yonglei

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. SHI Wanpeng

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

In accordance with Article 103 of the Company’s Articles, Messrs. WANG Jinchang, ZHOU Zheng and CHENG
Yuk Wo will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2013 AGM.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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None of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company on the appointment date.
Commencing on 23 October 2009, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-
executive Director or independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years from 23 October 2009.
Each of these service agreements and letters of appointment will continue thereafter unless and until terminated
by either party by serving not less than three months’ prior written notice or three months salary in lieu of such
notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which cannot be terminated by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years as required by the Company’s Articles.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent

non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 40 to 41 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract or arrangement of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Company’s Articles with reference to market
conditions, Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors of the Company are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2012, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or
their associates had any interest in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or
chief executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Number of underlying Approximate
shares held in long position percentage of
Name of Director Capacity (Note 1) interests
Mr. Wang Jinchang Beneficial owner 600,000 0.06%
Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 500,000 0.05%
Mr. Hu Yonglei Beneficial owner 300,000 0.03%
Interests in underlying shares of associated corporation
Number of
underlying shares Approximate
Name of associated held in long position percentage of
Name of Director corporations Capacity (Note 1) interests
Mr. Ning Gaoning China Foods Limited Beneficial owner 1,620,000 0.06% (Note 2)
Mr. Ning Gaoning China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 1,300,000 0.02% (Note 3)
Mr. Hu Yonglei China Agri-Industries
Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 500,000 0.01% (Note 3)
Notes:

(1) Long position in the underlying shares of the relevant company under share options granted pursuant to the share
option scheme of the relevant company.

(2) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Foods Limited in issue as at 31 December
2012, i.e. 2,797,191,396 shares.

(3) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited in issue as
at 31 December 2012, i.e. 5,249,880,788 shares.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2012, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or as recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate

percentage
of aggregate
Capacity and Number of interests in issued
Substantial shareholders Notes nature of interest shares held share capital*
Wide Smart (1) & (2) Registered owner 599,999,940 60.24%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (1) Registered owner 60 0%
("COFCO (HK)") (1) & (2) Beneficial owner 600,000,000 60.24%
COFCO Corporation (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 600,000,000 60.24%
(“COFCQ”) corporations
Notes:

(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company.

(2) Wide Smart is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). Wide Smart acts as a nominee shareholder holding
599,999,940 shares in trust for COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore the beneficial owner of the 599,999,940 shares
held by Wide Smart.

(3) COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be interested in
the 600,000,000 shares in aggregate held by COFCO (HK) and Wide Smart.

* The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2012,
i.e., 996,000,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests
required kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

DISCUSSION AND
%ﬁggi%%&% Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the
4 Company has maintained sufficient public float since the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 16
November 2009.
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be
CORPORATE continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance
SS;’SSTNANCE with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions
e are as follows:
1. On 21 September 2010, the Company and COFCO Finance Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO, entered into a financial services agreement (“the Financial
Services Agreement”). Details of the Financial Services Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 21 September 2010.
Pursuant to the Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group the
DIRECTORS AND following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 1 November 2010, the date on which
m‘dggEMENT the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:
PROFILE
ERLEA (a) Deposit services
ERABMN

The maximum daily RMB deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with
COFCO Finance shall not exceed RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual cap
were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF THE (b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services
DIRECTORS
8-

COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees in connection
with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including settlement services,
forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be provided by COFCO
Finance to the Group under the Financial Services Agreement. COFCO Finance will charge handling
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other financial services for a maximum
annual cap not exceeding RMB5 million. The above entrustment loan services and the other financial
services were only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the maximum daily RMB deposit amounted to RMB284,027,000,
COFCO Finance provided loans of RMB259,000,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment loan
services and the other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance under the Financial
Services Agreement.
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2. On 8 November 2011, the Group entered into a framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with
COFCO, pursuant to which the Group will supply a provision of various types and sizes of packaging
materials, products and related services (“Products and Related Services”) to COFCO and its subsidiaries
and associates other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) according to the latter’s specifications and at
prevailing market prices for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2012. The Framework
Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary
consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of the Framework Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2011. The approval of the
independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16 December 2011.

The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services to be supplied
to COFCO Group in 2012, 2013 and 2014 would not exceed RMB460,000,000, RMB720,000,000 and
RMB1,100,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group under the Framework Agreement was approximately RMB84,406,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 and 2 for the year ended 31 December 2012 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties, and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 36 to the audited financial statements also constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules which

are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
confirms it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

No Directors are considered to have interests in any business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly
with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2012.
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Report of the Directors

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2012.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2013 AGM will be held on Friday, 7 June 2013.
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2013 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2013
Closure of Register of members 31 May to 7 June 2013 (both dates inclusive)
Record date 7 June 2013

For determining Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2013
Closure of Register of members 14 June to 18 June 2013 (both dates inclusive)
Record date 18 June 2013

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the 2013 AGM, shareholders should contact the
Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 18 February 2013, the Group entered into two sale and purchase agreements to acquire the entire issued
share capital of Victoria Industrial Limited (“Victoria Industrial”) from Mr. Huang Weibo (the “Vendor”) at the
cash consideration of RMB294,411,439 (subject to adjustment with a maximum consideration in the amount of
RMB375,000,000) and 13.33% of the equity interest of Sino-Asia Plastic Package (Zhongshan) Co., Ltd. from
Zhongshan Huihong Assets Operating Management Co., Ltd. at the cash consideration of RMB37,000,000,
respectively. The said acquisitions, together with the Group’s acquisitions of the entire issued share capital of
Paulian Investment Holding Limited from the Vendor at the cash consideration of US$1,878,000 in May 2012
and 90% equity interest in Tianjin Victoria Packaging Co., Ltd. from Victoria Industrial at the cash consideration
of US$1.00 in November 2012, constituted discloseable transactions of the Company under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to note 39 of the financial statements and the announcement of
the Company dated 18 February 2013.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the 2013 AGM.

Wang Jinchang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2013

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
=7 Ik

To the shareholders of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CPMC
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 107 to 193, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2012, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZHE®RE

Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2012, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement
el < S |1

2012 2011 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 i
Kiat AR®T T AREFT BUGZEERE
REVENUE A 5 5,045,962 4,342,277
Cost of sales SHEMA 6 (4,202,510) (3,647,944)
Gross profit FEH 843,452 694,333
Other income and gains — net EUA RS — F5E 5 86,759 90,835
Selling and marketing expenses  $H& Mk &ZiHE& A (204,694) (181,191) CONSOLIDATED
Administrative expenses THER (241,854) (209,812) INCOME
Finance costs g4 7 (45,973) (31,150) ST;TAEK;N;
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX  F&FrS%{A15E 6 437,690 363,015
Income tax expense FTSHiA > 10 (105,131) (77,222)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFHE 332,559 285,793
Attributable to: FEML -
Equity holders of the Company IN/NGI L E =N 11 322,681 280,298
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RS 9,878 5,495
CONSOLIDATED
332,559 285,793 STATEMENT OF
- COMPREHENSIVE
EARNINGS PER SHARE AAFEBR INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BREG A RAEEERAR
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS E{LERER
OF THE COMPANY 13
Basic (RMB) BER (AEEBTT) 0.37 0.34
Diluted (RMB) g (ARBIT) 0.37 0.34
. - " b A sy g CONSOLIDATED
Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are FERMRE REIRR S F1E 1M KR STATEMENT
disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements. KHTFE12 EITHE - OF Fg\IOAS,\:EIIé\h
REMBRRAR
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
RARREHER
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
RAREBAK o

INDEPENDENT 2012 2011
s RMB’000 RMB'000
VR ke AR%T T ARETTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND FERF
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REEAZTEWA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 332,559 285,793
Attributable to: FE(L -
Equity holders of the Company PiN/NG @ ST N 322,681 280,298
Non-controlling interests IR 9,878 5,495
CONSOLIDATED 332,559 285,793
INCOME
STATEMENT
AR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
HAREUAR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
AR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
EARRBDE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2012 — AN EZI- i&)l._lﬁ N %
20124124318 N 3 N Vi /R
2012 2011 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 v
HiaF AR%T AREFIT BUGHARS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 2,598,664 1,828,644
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT T E R 15 149,582 131,224
Deposits for purchase of items of HE¥% - BKE R
property, plant and equipment BERIL D 343,136 262,723
Goodwill GES 16 103,295 103,295
Other intangible assets EtEREE 17 7,383 5,685
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 27 16,087 11,034 CONSOH%%[E)
Prepayments, deposits and RS ek STATEMENT
other receivables Hofth pE UL TR 21 1,221 1,849 alkEs
Total non-current assets BIEMBNEE 3,219,368 2,344,454
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories =8 19 900,327 869,386
Trade and bills receivables B 5 UK R BRI 20 698,258 609,484
Prepayments, deposits and FENR - ek
other receivables H b fE Uk 21 392,151 522,119
Pledged deposits [REZ SN 22 31,647 65,326 CONSOLIDATED
Cash and cash equivalents R RReEEY 22 1,677,297 1,611,816 COSI\}/F\’TREETiEmgISE
Total current assets BB E 3,699,680 3,678,131 INCOME
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE T
Trade and bills payables B SRR RENEE 24 496,939 855,796
Other payables and accruals HAb Bk R EETIR B 25 293,591 294,765
Interest-bearing bank and FTEERTT R EABIE K
other borrowings 26 1,603,809 368,946
Tax payable FEETHIR 43,759 27,623
Total current liabilities DT N=Ciy 2,438,098 1,547,130 e,
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,261,582 2,131,001 DFS;m:Ilchlﬂ
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #¥ERRE A& POSITION
LIABILITIES 4,480,950 4,475,455 REBBRRE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
%éﬂjﬁﬂﬁiﬁi As at 31 December 2012

20125612 A31H

INDEPENDENT 2012 2011
SR Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BUb RS Bfat AR¥T T AREFT

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABAR

LIABILITIES 4,480,950 4,475,455

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 58 R1TE 26 817,115 1,822,050

Deferred tax liabilities RIERIER A 27 3,055 4,620

Government grants BRAT a8 9,108 9,315
CONSOLIDATED Finance lease payables REHEREMNT _ 1,105
'SNTE\?Q"NEENT Total non-current liabilities BIERBBE 829,278 1,837,090
BAlEE Net assets FEE 3,651,672 2,638,365

EQUITY =

Equity attributable to RRRIREFER A

equity holders of the Company ~ fE{h#Ezs

Issued capital BEITRRA 28 86,591 73,080

Reserves B 30(a) 3,434,921 2,452 183

Proposed final dividend ¥UR R HIRZ B 12 28,884 29,050
CONSOLIDATED . 3,550,396 2,554,313
STATEMENT OF Non-controlling interests eI 101,276 84,052
COMPREHENSIVE ; e
INCOME Total equity s 3,651,672 2,638,365
FEZHEBAR
CONSOLIDATED
N
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FERBBMRRE

WANG JINCHANG ZHANG XIN
EF£E R
Director Director
2 EFE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
FAEREHR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e R AR Eb xR

Attributable to equity holders of the Company INDEPENDENT
ARARKSEAEL AUDITORS
REPORT
Employee B GRS
share-hased Non-
Issued  compensation Capital ~ Statutory ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital feserve  reserves  reserves profits ~dividend Total interests equity
DY U]

BRR%  REMERE  HABR  EERE  EFAE  ARRS Bit  FERER 4Rg
Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
fiE  ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR AR®TR ARETR ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR AR¥TR

Asat 1 January 2011 R2011E1A1A 73,080 - 1,767,499 29,664 430,770 21580 2322593 78557 2,401,150
Total comprehensive income  £E2ENEEE CONSOLIDATED

for the year = = = - 280298 - 280298 5495 285793 INCOME
2010 final dividend declared  EETR0I0ERERSE 12 = = = > - (880 (21580) = (21,580) STATEMENT
2011 interim dividend N1ERDRE 2 - = - - (W) - (1) - W) AR
Proposed 2011 final dividend ﬁ})ﬁmﬂﬁﬂ% g 12 - - - - (29,050) 29,050 = = =
Equiy-setied share option ~ EREEBRERH

arrangements 29 - 392 - - - - 392 - 392
Appropriation to the AREEERE

statutory reserves 30 - - - 10,130 (10,130) - - - -
As at 31 December 2011 and 12011£12A31R

1 January 2012 R201261A1H 73,080 3020 1,767499 39,794* 644,498 29050 2,554,313 84,052 2,638,365
Total comprehensive income £E2ENHEE

for the year - - - - 322,681 - 322,681 9,878 332,559 CONSOLIDATED
2011 final dividend declared 2011 KEHE 12 - - - - - (29,050)  (29,050) - (29,050) STATEMENT OF
Equity-setled shere option ~ BREEERER COMPREHENSIVE

arengements 2 - 1955 - - - - 1% - 1% . NCOME
Acquison of subsiciaries  HEHEAT 31 - - - - - - Y Y 7! RAZEMAR
Issue of shares Bkt 28 13511 - 730958 - - - TH469 - TH469
Share issue expenses R 28 - - (8,721) - - - (8,721) - (8,721)
Unilateral capital contribution AR FIERHEA

toasubsiclary by equity  H—RIHELE

holders of the Company 1&&%%}?@‘3% - - 439 - - - 439 (439) -
Capial contributions from ~ FEARBER 2 EE

non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - 943 943
2012 interim dividend N12FRHRE 12 - - - - (35,690) - (35,690) - (35,690) CONSOLIDATED
Proposed 2012 final dividend  §EE2012ERERE 12 - - - - (8884 26,884 - - - STATEMENT
Appropriation to the AREERE . Fg\l(?SNITCIIé\I\%

statutory reserves il 30 - - - 30,683 (30,683) - - - - PNt
As at 31 December 2012 120125128318 86,591 2,347 2,490,175 70477 871,922 26,884 3,550,396 101,276 3,651,672
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * n/< EE R B B A B B &R 8

RMB3,434,921,000 (2011: RMB2,452,183,000) in the consolidated 4B A FE #3,434,921,0007T (2011
statement of financial position. F : ARH#2,452,183,0007T) °

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
RaRESBR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE20126F128318 L EF

CONSOLIDATED 2012 2011
CASH FLOWS. Notes RMB’000 RMB000
LRk L et AR®T T AREFTT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERE
Profit before tax: BRACAIRE 437,690 363,015
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs VBER 7 45,973 31,150
Interest income M BHA 5 (28,391) (22,651)
Write-back of other payables Ho A FR g e 5 - (283)
SLAFTRAA\EHAL Loss on disposal of items of HEME - BER
POSITION property, plant and equipment K fEEE 5 3,057 2,449
AR Gain on bargain purchase EAEL G 5 (902) -
Depreciation e 6 139,706 117,846
Amortisation of land lease Tt AR & SR
payments 6 3,556 3,108
Amortisation of other EAthfm & A
intangible assets 6 1,305 1,264
Impairment of trade receivables 25 EIZ KR
and other receivables HAtb EUORE 6 860 864
E&&EVSCTEL Provision/(reversal of provision) FERE /(BERmE)
STATEMENTS against inventories 6 2,033 (625)
SRRk Foreign exchange gains, net [ 5 U a5 5E 5 (1,330) (18,079)
Equity-settled share option R 4 H B ARAE R
expense 6 1,955 392
605,512 478,450
Increase in inventories FEE (26,947) (263,395)
(Increase)/decrease in B 5 & E W =g
trade and bills receivables (3EHn),SE (75,800) 26,439
CVEVEAR Decrease/(increase) in AR e REM
FINANGIAL prepayments, deposits and FEM SRR (38 hn)
%ng%ﬁ other receivables 156,564 (215,344)
wmE Decrease in pledged deposits B IRE s 17,464 22,141
(Decrease)/increase in trade and & ZERZ KL
bills payables FETE=EE CRid), /3N (360,486) 164,417
(Decrease)/increase in other HAbE R &
payables and accruals JEETR CRA) /8 (73,215) 2,328
Decrease in government grants B AL (207) (207)
Cash generated from operations &&EL 7S 242,885 214,829
Interest paid EERpAlSS (41,985) (85,977)
Mainland China tax paid B EFIE (92,570) (70,905)
Net cash flows from ETREIEE
operating activities ZIREmFE 108,330 107,947
1 1 2 CPMC Holdings Limited & &2 i AR A 7




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2012 4= A} é:t =
. kY ILEE
HE2012612 318 L4 mERSRER

2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Btat AR®T T ARBTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM RERETEHZ
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BERE
Interest received BHFE 28,391 22,651
Purchases of items of property, BEYE  BE
plant and equipment E (827,171) (345,270)
Increase in deposits for purchase FEEME - BE R &E
of items of property, Eoprecrp Yl
plant and equipment (80,413) (250,058)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - 7= k&
property, plant and equipment FRSs0CR 1,922 11,364
Decrease in prepayments, AR e REM
deposits and other receivables FEUW R 2 > - 59,500
Additions to prepaid land FET b A & R N
lease payments 15 (13,255) (770)
Additions to other intangible assets Eth 2 & E=1E N 17 (3,003) (685)
Acquisition of subsidiaries BAKBAR 31 (47,447) (119,886)
Interest paid BRAFE (3,988) -
Net cash flows used in KERSFERAZ
investing activities REmFE (944,964) (623,154)
CASH FLOWS FROM REEBEEN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BERE
New bank loans FIRITER 1,030,260 2,503,885
Other loans from COFCO REFPEVISERET
Finance Corporation Limited AE ([HEMHE]) 2
(“COFCO Finance”) HiEK 347,000 100,000
Proceeds from issue of shares BTS2 TS R0E 28 744,469 =
Share issue expenses B3I 28 (8,721) -
Repayment of bank loans BERRITER (998,397) (889,207)
Repayment of other loans from BERREYS
COFCO Finance HER (144,000) (44,000)
Dividends paid [EAREEE) (64,740) (48,970)
Long-term payable paid B REAER (1,094) (1,868)
Capital contribution from IR R 2 JFE
non-controlling shareholders 943 =
Net cash flows from BEEBIEA
financing activities R RFRE 905,720 1,619,840
NET INCREASE INCASHAND H&RRLZEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS B HNFREE 69,086 1,104,633
Cash and cash equivalents at FYIRE MRS
beginning of year ZEY) 1,611,816 481,172
Effect of foreign exchange rate bR F B BT
changes, net (3,605) 26,011
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS F£&BERHEZEY
AT END OF YEAR 1,677,297 1,611,816
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF H&RBEELZEY
CASH AND CASH EERD AT
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R RIRITELR 22 1,677,297 1,611,816
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Statement of Financial Position

B AR 2R

As at 31 December 2012
20126128318

2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARET T AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 143 234
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR E 18 2,667,865 2,604,557
Total non-current assets RIEREEE 2,668,008 2,604,791
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries RS UNGIE O 874,519 161,542
Prepayments, deposits and FERR - Ee Rk
other receivables H b e U TR 21 12,055 5,999
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIBE&EEY 22 756,732 803,267
Total current assets BRENEE 1,643,306 970,808
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Other payables and accruals HEib N ERTIEE 25 30,078 23,191
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ £+5$R1T{E& X 26 1,188,565 189,704
Total current liabilities wREaE 1,218,643 212,895
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEZFHE 424,663 757,913
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERREBEE
LIABILITIES 3,092,671 3,362,704
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBARE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  =+5$R1T{& 3k 26 817,115 1,822,050
Total non-current liabilities RIERHEE 817,115 1,822,050
Net assets FEE 2,275,556 1,540,654
EQUITY %
Issued capital BEITRRA 28 86,591 73,080
Reserves i 30(b) 2,160,081 1,438,524
Proposed final dividend BURARER S 12 28,884 29,050
Total equity “arkEns 2,275,556 1,540,654
WANG JINCHANG ZHANG XIN
F£E RET
Director Director
EE EE

CPMC Holdings Limited g i HIR AR



2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2012
2012 12R31H

Corporate Information

CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at 33/F, Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the manufacturing of packaging
products including beverage cans, food cans, aerosol
cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel
barrels and plastic packaging in Mainland China.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong)
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is COFCO Corporation
("COFCQ”), which is a state-owned enterprise registered in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or the “Mainland
China” or the “China”).

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
derivative financial instruments which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2012. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period
as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation
in full.

2.1

BF 755 R 3R B

RAEH

PR EERAERAR ([ARF])
REREBSFMRILHEREL
A Al e AR A AR D 720094 11
B16HEBBHEXZMBMR A A
([BE32FT)) ERET - AAEZ5E
Attt BB S REES TITE
2625 MEF A 0, 334E ©

ARA—FKEBEZERRA > AR
AINEMBERR (GHEIAEHE])
TZETERAERERERRE
o BREANE RmiE - /B
EeBE H2H - WHRk2E

ARRIIEBRBEMKLZPEE
(BR) ARAR (HEEE]
B AR - ARAREERA - A
RANRREBRBB/RPEAR
HME (B RTPBEARE]D &
MOBEELEEFESEARAA
(Ferigl) e

BB

ZEMBHRRIRBEF LGSR
SRM2BAMBHREER ([FE
MBmEEA])  BEZHMELY
BHREEL - FEGHE ([FE
SFFER]) kR BAEARESR
ERUREERRGOIMESR - B
TESRMTANRTEFEN  H
THZE L A B SRBEE - %
FUHHRERANARE TARK]D)
S - ABR=BHASN - FABEE
VEREFREANT

mEE%E
BEVBRRBEBEARAGTRENB
NEEHZE2012F12A31H ILEEH
HE@RE - MBRARZMBEHRE T
REEAR R BAR 2 HE R IZER
SETBRGE - MBRARIMNEER
Ue B B HRRE AR A ABR - UREE B HARD
AEBBBEHN#E 2R  WEZIE
FliERIEAIE—BEHEAEAR A%
ERNRZEEN—EBRNLE
B R5 RERU S KB ER
BIRGRAE ARG BB 4 o
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012512 A31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results in
a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosure

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments ~ Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 Amendments ~ Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

HKAS 12 Amendments ~ Amendments to HKAS 12 /Income
taxes — Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets

The adoption of the above revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11

and HKFRS 12
Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27
(2011) Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

K (IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards —
Government Loans?

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?

Financial Instruments?

Consolidated Financial Statements?
Joint Arrangements?
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’?

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 -
Transition Guidance?

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011) -
Investment Entities®

Fair Value Measurement?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements —
Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income!

Employee Benefits?

Separate Financial Statements’

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Ming?

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in June 20122

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2013

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2014

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2015

2.3

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 Hﬁﬁiﬁi’%ﬁ‘f?
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012512 A31H

23CHEMEERERZERBY

CONSOLIDATED 2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
IBRRR

Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. The Group considers that these new and
revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on
the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly
or indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or
issued share capital or controls the composition of its board
of directors; or over which the Company has a contractual
right to exercise a dominant influence with respect to that
entity’s financial and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s

BHEER (&)

ANEFEBR FFEEMRBRET:
REETEBMBRE LN
2 AEBREBZZHET REIERT
EAMBRELNETSHAEE
MEBEENVBRREEEAY
@,

e 2

N\

R

24 FESTTHERE

ML E

BB B A 1 B B & Sk A R
HYBUALERZERERITEAE
SEHEEZSGNARNER X
ARAIAAMENAILZERN T
MREEBRRHEITEEATES

=
WER -

BB AR R A A S R AL R

mfuscm income statement to the extent of dividends received and BRETARRRWMERAN o XA F]
%@gg%’gs receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are R E R A A% E TR AN E R (E
stated at cost less any impairment losses. ARk E SR AR ©
Joint ventures EE AT
A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual EENAIERBEANLHENINE
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties B2 Bt AEEEEMA AR

undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates JHLEES) - & NAl{ER—1(E
as a separate entity in which the Group and the other BUEREE  AEBEHEHEMAL
— parties have an interest. BEEER -
FINANCIAL
%Jgg"%gﬁ%ﬁ The joint venture agreement between the venturers AEERABHETLNE EHER
R stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture B 8EZHHEE A2 2F/
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parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group/Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than half of its voting power or
issued share capital or controls the composition of its
board of directors; or over which the Company has a
contractual right to exercise a dominant influence with
respect to the joint venture’s financial and operating
policies;

CPMC Holdings Limited fig 5B R A F)
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂji%iﬁ%%ﬁj%}
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2.4 TEESTHEHE (F)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies CONSOLIDATED

(continued)

Joint ventures (continued)

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group/Company
does not have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group/Company does not have
unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or

S NTE (&)

b) HREZEHIERE MAKE K
AR EESEEME T E

EH - BRI ERESZEER

Al

—

(c) MELRA  MAKHE KR
B3 4 58 5 [ sk R 4E 42

STATEMENT OF
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FABSRER

STATEMENT
indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the joint BEEXMEERE KR TLR OF FINANCIAL
venture’s registered capital and is in a position to ZAENEA20%E M E A EJB&&N

TN L

exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group/Company holds, directly
or indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor
is in a position to exercise significant influence over,
the joint venture.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For

WA ZAEATNEMEAY

(d) REAGERIEIRT AR
BARIRE - MARE, AQA
ERIMERALIRZAZER
BIM20%EMER - AHZAE
&N A A R B RN ]
EIMERZE -

EBREHEEE

XBEHIABEEAKR BEL
RETAKE AR R FESE -
ZAFER/RASEERNEERK
BREOAFE AEBEBERKE
FRZAEERAERENEE  EX
5 BT AR B YRR 0T FE Il R Y
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: FIVE-YEAR
each business combination, the Group elects whether to o REBIRIZENAFESIZLL B FINANGIAL
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that DIERBRE T AT BRI FEETER ﬁ;%’\%g

are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHHREHE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of HKAS
39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration

EBEHREE (H)

#5 R T B A E R SRR ER
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HRERQAFEFE MRATFEED
AN IERERSE AR M EE WA
MEE - WA AREBLENEATE
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E?;;;'fogﬁ accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent HENEEMBREEAGTE - D
K TATN L
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consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of

B AEBOIAR BT BN
C P S S 1IN R

AEENEXRAGTE  IEEERA
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ST R A R D B Y A
BT BammBEr#EE
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MRFE REFRFEREZHES
RIB R S E R s -
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REFBERBETE AEBAESFE
MEA  FEHEFHREXBRK
S EmESAERER - Alg
FREHETRS - AEEN12A

FIVE-YEAR

FINANCIAL goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment STRETHEZFERENR - B

%’ggﬂf}gﬁgﬁ testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, ETRENS  EEKAMmEA
b =
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from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

CPMC Holdings Limited fig 5B R A F)
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into
account its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Machineries and equipment 12 to 20 years
Vehicles 5 years
Electronic equipment, office equipment

and fixtures 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 FESHHREHE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machineries and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
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when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
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indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are account for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic
rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the income statement on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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CONSOLDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TESTBERBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
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trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as finance costs in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends
or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
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The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future
significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify
them. The reclassification from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity investments
depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation
does not affect any financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss using the fair value option at
designation, as these instruments cannot be reclassified
after initial recognition.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit
or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in finance costs for
loan and in administrative expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 TEETBEBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
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transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired fif,
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that
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that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect
of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the income
statement.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 TEETBEBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Financial liabilities SRIEE
Initial recognition and measurement R R =Z

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

BEEFTERIFEIRF SRS H
BEID/ARAFEFABRENS
BEE EXREBE KB RE
EEARE AN R TAMITET
A (ER) - AERBER )L HERE
ETHeMABENSME -

STATEMENT
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NOTES TO
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and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised

FIVE-YEAR

FINANCIAL as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
S process.

REMBHE
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Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long
positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques
include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow
analysis; and option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
commodity future contracts, to hedge its market price risk.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that
meet the definition of a derivative as defined by HKAS 39
is recognised in the income statement in cost of sales.
Commodity contracts that are entered into and continue to
be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-
financial item in accordance with the Group’s expected
purchase, sale or usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement,
except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which
is recognised in other comprehensive income.

The fair value of commodity futures contracts is measured
by reference to quoted market prices.
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CONSOLDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TESTBERBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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POSITION Cash and cash equivalents ReRESZEEY

BN For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash RiEEREeRERMES  BE LB

NOTES TO
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flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as
to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
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FINANCIAL required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable VAR AT ERER S -
%’ggﬂf}gﬁgﬁ estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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CONSOLDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TESTBERBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
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Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the income statement over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the income statement by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in Note 29 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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CONSOLDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 2.4 TESTBERBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Share-based payments (continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.
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as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Employee benefits

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
each of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required
to participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised
by the local municipal government whereby the Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of
the salaries of its employee to the retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to pay the ongoing
required contributions. Contributions made to the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged to the
income statement as incurred.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)

Pension scheme

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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CONSOLIDATED 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 24 TEETBEBE (&)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the

S

ZEMBHRROUAREZS] - B
RRABNINENRZINEE - KEH
NHERSEREEDERES &
T RE MY B ISR IR B 19 AP E T BE
BB E - $EIEE§J\EEE’JM\%
RHMAELZ HE BN BEYN
“’“ME’JET%@ AR o AN B35t
BEUMNEREERAR REH

m]m}

J\\

SITTAIIIE\J,\/QﬁlgAL dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities e B RREARNEREITHR
POSITION denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the g gay M EBERELAZE
BN functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of ] H&E%E&w °

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
g

the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the income
statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Renminbi. As at the end of

7S ’@%TE@M&A%%J%Z#%%
BEERVARG B ZERY
e BN TFENIMNETEZIEE
KEBNAEEATEZA ZEX
Bk MU R FEFEZIFEE
BEEL AR ZEB A RER
HEZAFEEHEL 2 Ba 2k
BRA - (BIEATEERNE
i, 2 T Y A B 1B S R AR 2 B = R
o RN At 2 ERA KB s g

) -

T E N A T 2 AL B 3
ARK - REEMERE - LR

E:X,E\,JCES\T the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these BHNEEMAGEERBRS PERE
SUMMARY entities are translated into the presentation currency of the R =P E KA A A E’\Jfﬁlj =
AEBBHHE Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the i &P B U 5 2k 1R BR G A pnAE T 15
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reporting period and their income statements are translated
into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in retained
profits. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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EXRFERARE

PEE £ MY IE S Z RN E A 2 E A
REER  AERFREAE - NILE
SMNBIEFS R - MZFEINBEEEE
Bz Hfb 2 WA AR RS R AR

=
e

R M 75 S S 65 T 2 2 A A 7
BHEKBEANEER A ERD
ERNARATFEEL  HRRAR
BB AER AR  LUEE
R -

MEABERERME  BINKTE
Z\\jmﬁi/mﬁﬁﬁ i//lh?éi H
HIFE R ER AR - BINFHE R
ARBEFEREEZKTHERS
MERZFEZINETHERRE
BCAREE o



Significant accounting judgements and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to be
retained by the relevant subsidiaries. As at 31 December
2012, the deferred tax liabilities arising thereon amounted
to RMB1,220,000 (2011: RMB2,750,000) (Note 27).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2012 was RMB103,295,000 (2011:
RMB103,295,000). Further details are given in Note 16.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 Hﬁi%iﬁ%zﬁ‘f?
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Significant accounting judgements and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had net deferred
tax assets of RMB16,087,000 (2011: RMB11,034,000)
and deferred tax liabilities of RMB3,055,000 (2011:
RMB4,620,000). To the extent it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences will be utilised, deferred tax assets
are recognised for temporary differences arising from
impairment provisions of property, plant and equipment,
inventories and receivables, decelerated tax depreciation
and amortisation, certain accrual items and unused tax
losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2012 was RMB10,678,000 (2011: RMB12,129,000). Further
details are contained in Note 27 to the financial statements.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering each asset’s remaining life. Cash flows applying
to each asset’'s remaining life are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates.
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Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, which can be analysed by
three business units based on their products and services
as follows:

(a)

Metal beverage cans — engages in the manufacture
and sale of three-piece beverage tinplate cans
and two-piece beverage aluminium cans. Three-
piece beverage tinplate cans are primarily used for
packaging tea drinks, protein drinks, energy drinks,
congee, fruit and vegetable juices and coffee. Two-
piece beverage aluminium cans are primarily used for
packaging carbonated drinks, beer and tea drinks;

Integrated metal packaging - engages in the
manufacture and sale of food cans, aerosol cans,
metal caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels
and other metal packaging for various foods, milk
powder, household chemical products, personal
care products, insecticides, bottles of beer, metal
containers and bulk edible oil etc.; and

Plastic packaging — engages in the manufacture and
sale of plastic packaging for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic device of electronic products, daily use
hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles and
related plastic-made products.

Management monitors the results of its business units
separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Business
unit performance is evaluated based on revenue, as
explained in the table below:

4.
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FABSRER

Group

REE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREBT T
Metal beverage cans & B BB 2,768,549 2,210,312
Integrated metal packaging meEcBeE 2,017,525 1,935,400
Plastic packaging BREK 259,888 196,565
5,045,962 4,342,277
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- - - - _MAﬁ = ﬁ
CONSOLDATED 4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. BEFHBEE (F)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

Geographical information

As the Group’s major operations and customers are located
in Mainland China, no further geographical segment
information is provided.

Information about major customers
Revenue of approximately RMB2,397,318,000 (2011:
RMB1,880,219,000) was derived from the five largest

HRAEENEEXHREFPOM
KA RN - B ERE R E — PR
oI D HREHYE o

EBRFXTEEFNER
RERAUNZRAREFHBRAHDARE
2,397,318,0007T (20114 : AR¥E

STATEMENT customers. 1,880,219,0007T) °

OF FINANCIAL

Eg;&ogﬁ 5. Revenue, other income and gains — net 5. WA > EHlg ARk — SB4E
SATANA L

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for
returns and trade discounts during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and net gains is as

WA TEIARENERRE  BF
AAEEmMERFE KRR
ERESZH -

ATRAEERKRA - HAib WA K%

follows: I B AT
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL 2012 2011
STATEMENTS 5 ,
SRR RMB 00_0 RM/B OO_O
ARET T ARBT T
Revenue A
Sale of goods HEEm 5,045,962 4,342,277
Other income Hug A
Bank interest income RITHBUA 26,626 21,744
Interest income from COFCO Finance R B R ISA A S U A
e (Note 36(a)) (Ff5E36(a)) 1,765 907
FINANCIAL Government grants* BTG 50,624 37,641
SUMMARY
R BHE 79,015 60,292
Gains — net Wi — FEE
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEM
plant and equipment R fHEE (3,057) (2,449)
Write-back of other payables H qth (S 3 - 283
Gains on foreign exchange, net HNE Ui %5 F 5 1,330 18,079
Gain on bargain purchase (Note 31) AEUEEE (F1FE31) 902 -
Other gains Hb e 8,569 14,630
7,704 30,543
86,759 90,835

*

BT AT s 25 B S 4
FREE L A o 4B BT A
ERA S B EE -

The government grants are granted by the local authority to
support local companies. There are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6. Profit before income tax

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂjﬁ*&%‘%ﬁﬁ%

2012412 A31H

6. PFRATISHATRIE

The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after RNEBBRATBHATFB LM,

charging/(crediting):

(GtA) ATEBRER:

2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARET T ARBT T
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFEERA 4,195,263 3,648,569
Realised fair value losses of PTAESRMITAREIR
derivative financial instruments, net  ‘AF{BEEBIFXE 23 5,214 =
Provision/(reversal of provision) FERE
against inventories (BERmE) 2,033 (625)
Cost of sales SHEA 4,202,510 3,647,944
Depreciation e 14 139,706 117,846
Amortisation of land lease payments =+ 1 & Fuik &5 15 3,556 3,108
Amortisation of other intangible Hib R & N
assets 17 1,305 1,264
Minimum lease payments under KEHETNETF
operating leases for RREH &R
buildings and warehouses e 21,470 20,893
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN & 2,766 2,710
Impairment of trade receivables B Z WG R
and other receivables* H At EUFORE 860 864
Employee benefit expense EERNER
(including directors’ (BREES
remuneration): <) :
Wages and salaries TEEF® 354,374 286,886
Pension scheme contributions BREEEIRRK 28,227 24,935
Other benefits EH A AE A 38,781 33,941
Equity-settled share option it EERERS
expense 1,955 392
423,337 346,154
*  The impairment of trade receivables and other receivables Y BN REMELSRE T A
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated ABERa R AZTTHES °

income statement.
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CONSOLIDATED 7. Finance costs 7. BKER
STATEMENT OF
CASHTLOWS An analysis of finance costs is as follows: TH BEEER DT

FRESRER

Group
rEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Interest on: B
STATEMENT Bank loans wholly repayable R REFREE
OF FINANCIAL e e ey sy
POSITION within five years BEENRITER 55,567 33,031
SRR Loans from COFCO Finance REFRRMBHER
(Note 36(a)) (H15£36 (a)) 6,217 2,643
Finance leases REEE 108 303
Others HAith 3,988 -
Total interest expense R BRI 65,880 35,977
Less: Interest capitalised W BAMEF B (19,907) (4,827)
NOTES TO 45,973 31,150
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS : ’ :
Ptk 8. Directors’ remuneration 8. EEXM=
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to FERZESHNE NBEREBHER
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock SMERARESEMHAR ([ £m
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and FAID) RBEBQAMEHIE16180
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as BT
follows:
FIVE-YEAR Group
FINANCIAL z
SUMMARY x5
R BHE 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Fees for Independent B IEMITES
non-executive directors 28% 406 416
Other emoluments: E AN ¢
Salaries, allowances and e R REYET
benefits in kind 1,680 908
Performance related bonuses RIFLEENTEAL 2,048 528
Equity-settled share option expense i E R ER 328 66
Pension scheme contributions RS FT B 162 79
4,218 1,581
4,624 1,997

1 44 CPMC Holdings Limited g i HIR AR




Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂj—ﬁ*&%ﬁd—%

2012412 A31H

8. Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8. EEM<= (&) CONSOLDATED
STATEMENT OF
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHTES Zﬁf;gig;
. P N ARE B
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FANTEILIERTESHE
during the year were as follows: cay NN
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETT
Mr. Shi Wanpeng* VP it o - -
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo B4 203 208 OFngﬂcEm
Mr. Fu Tingmei BERSLE 203 208 POSITION
406 416 BRI &
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRUEINBIIERTESHH
independent non-executive directors during the year B (20114F « 4&) o
(2011: Nil).
* Mr. Shi Wanpeng has agreed to waive his emoluments. Y ABEEEERIENERTH
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITESERIHITES FT»?JIE?;J\?
STATEMENTS
i
Salaries, Equity- AR
allowances settled Pension
and benefits Performance share option scheme
in kind related expense contributions Total
e 2 bonuses ERiE E{f& remuneration

RENEN RERBRAL  BRERX sTEIRRK firme
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETRE ARBTRT ARETT ARBTRT AR®T:n FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
2012 2012 SUMMARY
hERBHE
Executive directors: HirEs:
Mr. Wang Jinchang TeEkHE 840 1,050 141 81 2,112
Mr. Zhang Xin RAT A 840 998 117 81 2,036
1,680 2,048 258 162 4,148
Non-executive directors:  FEEI(TES
Mr. Ning Gaoning ERERE - - - - -
Mr. Zhou Zheng RS E - - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei HKE L - - 70 - 70
1,680 2,048 328 162 4,218
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CONSOLIDATED 8. Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8. EEME (&)

STATEMENT OF

fﬁj';@?}}gi (b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITEERIFITES (F)
GIN=R Y

(continued)

Salaries, Equity-
allowances settled Pension
and benefits ~ Performance  share option scheme
in kind related expense  contributions Total
e R bonuses BanitE £fR&  remuneration
STATEMENT RENET FERETL  ERER TR B:tie
gggll{\:é,!\\llmm RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
R ARETT ARETRE ARETRE ARETRE ARETR
2011 20114
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Wang Jinchang TeE%HE 120 - 28 13 161
Mr. Zhang Xin RITEE 788 528 24 66 1,406
908 528 52 79 1,567
Non-executive directors:  FEE{TEE
NOTES TO : : i
Ee Mr. Ning Gaoning ESELE - - - - -
STATEMENTS Mr. Zhou Zheng AR = = = = =
LES LG Mr. Hu Yonglei PKEEE - - 14 - 14
908 528 66 79 1,581
There was no arrangement under which a director Bx Bt 528(a) FT 1% B8 A BUZE H)
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during FRATEESRBEMETHNR
the year, except for the waiver disclosed in Note 8(a). EZXRENENS -
FIVE-YEAR 9. Five hlghest pald employees 9. ﬁ%%ﬁ@"%% E’gﬁé
FINANCIAL
%ggﬂf};%g The five highest paid employees during the year included FARhEFHEaNEERRE S
two (2011: one) directors, details of whose remuneration (20115 : —R) EF - HFSFE
are set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of EEREXHFS - FRNEB =
the remaining three (2011: four) non-director, highest paid (20114F : &) ZmFMFESE
employees for the year are as follows: BERMESFBLOT ¢
Group
rEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AREBT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - EBE R E W& F 1,179 1,490
Performance-related bonuses RIRBEETEAL 1,260 1,042
Equity-settled share option expense T 4 E BRI 177 47
Pension scheme contributions RIS ETEER 177 241
2,793 2,820
1 46 CPMC Holdings Limited & &2 i AR A 7




10.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂja’%ﬁ;ﬁl}ﬁ%

20124124318

Five highest paid employees (continued) 9. HEFMESHNES (&)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose HMNTUATEHEZEEE RS
remuneration fell within the following bands is as BilfE 8 ABESA0T ¢
follows:
Number of employees
EEAH
2012 2011
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000/& 7T - 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 82
1,500,000/ 7T -
4
During the year ended 31 December 2011, share options HZE2011F12A31HIEFE - 5T
were granted to certain non-director, highest paid FEFHFHNESNEEREARD
employees, in respect of their services to the Group, Al B2 GE— 1587
under the share option scheme of the Company, further R ERM E29) B SR AE
details of which are set out in Note 29 to the financial EREAORSIERBIRE - ZFN
statements. The fair value of such options, which has FEBEHANERNKRRANEZOEIR
been recognised in the income statement over the vesting BEHATEIAEEBEHEE M
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the ST AN /) B 1% ¥Rk 2k A B < B8 Al IR
amount included in the financial statements for the current AL EEE RS ES
year is included in the above non-director, highest paid I ER o
employees’ remuneration disclosures.
Income tax 10. FR1EBL
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the FANHARAEEBREBITEELT
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in RIFERERE - A BB B FE
Hong Kong during the year (2011: Nil). Taxes on profits TEL B (20114 : ) o Hibih
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates F R ERT AR AN E B E KA
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group AEHERAIRITREGE -
operates.
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Group: REE -
Current — Mainland China B — A D
Charge for the year FALH 110,185 78,733
Underprovision/(overprovision) BEFETREE
in prior years (FBEER ) 1,741 (2,996)
Deferred income tax (Note 27) EEFTISH (M5E27) (6,795) 1,485
Total tax charge for the year FATIART H 105,131 77,222

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable
to profit before income tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax expense at the
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates,
are as follows:

ARRR - HAEHHE A A
ALV A L R U 20 P 48 B
FUB S B AT B BRI X MR E IR
B E 2 B BB % 2 BE AR
ERFIE AERE) RERHI*
ZRET ¢
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CONSOLDATED 10. Income tax (continued) 10. FREH (&)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS Group — 2012 AEE - 20125
GEBEMER
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B HEIR ait
RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %
ARETT Bkt ARETR Bt ARETR BAlt
Profitf(loss) before income tax RETERAIFE / (BE) (26,822) 464,512 437690
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEHEHE ZHR (4,426) 165 116,127 25.0 m,701 25.5
STATEMENT Profit not subject to tax due to AREEZHE
355'%“0 AL concessions” ARnTE - - (14,845) (32) (14,345 (34)
BBRRE Expenses not deductivle for tax B2 FX 4,426 (16.5) 1,393 03 5819 13
Income not subject to tax gL ikl ON - - (142) 00 (142) 0.0
Adjustments in respect of W ERE
current tax of previous periods HEAR - - 1,741 04 1,741 04
Effect of withholding tax at 5% onthe A THEIHBAE
distributable profits of certain PRC AR EFE25%
subsidiaries Bz 72 - - 1,220 0.2 1,220 03
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  BNFR &/ EIEMVH BB - - (680) (02) (680) (02)
NOTES T0 Tax losses not recognised AEAZHEER - - 317 0.1 317 04
FINANCIAL Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  AEBIRERH XA E 7B - - 105131 226 105,131 2.0
STATEMENTS
Group - 2011 AEHE - 20115F
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
& HER Chl
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETT Bk ARETR BAlL ARETT [ERalsd
Profit(loss) before income tax BREEHATE/(58) (8,452) 371,467 363015
TG Tax t the siaony ax ees RERRE (135 15 87 250 9l 252
SUMMARY Profit not subject to tax due to RAHEEEHE
S concessions' ST - - (811D @) (16112 (44
Expenses not deductible for tax Tz RS 1395 (16.5) 1,041 03 2436 07
Adjustments in respect of N SRRE
current tax of previous periods TMIERE - - (2,996) (08) (2,996) (08)
Effect of withholding tax at 5% onthe  EFHEIFBAR
distributable profits of certain PRC A3 IRHE25%
subsidiaries EEIL A - = 2750 07 2750 07
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  ENFR B/ BMRIERE = = (845) 02) (845) (02)
Tax losses not recognised KRz HEEE - - 517 0.1 517 0.1
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  AEBIRERHEE 2HES 1 = - 71,222 208 71,222 213

*

* REBEFEERRE - EREZ25%
HI BRI AT ([ A7
12# 1) o #ify - ANEERE E LA
K BINEIREDEZE THER
A]E RIEF BN B 1R B 1 E 2
TR B BRI R EH - BB
BRI - BIR BT FEA
B2 AR PR E R A B
FEFFEHE R B G FEREAE
BRI EER  UTRAEE=FE
ER50% 1P EATIEFE ©

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the rate of 25%. However,
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, being incorporated as
foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, have obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities in the PRC for their
entitlement to exemption from CIT for the first two years and
50% reduction in CIT for the next three years, commencing
from the first profitable year after offsetting all unexpired tax
losses carried forward from the previous years in accordance
with the relevant tax rules and regulations applicable to
foreign investment enterprises in the PRC.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)
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10. Income tax (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
undertook certain intra-group restructuring (the
“Restructuring”) pursuant to which the equity interests in
certain PRC subsidiaries held by British Virgin Islands
subsidiaries of the Group were transferred to certain Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Group. The Group obtained
approval from Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation
Bureau at the end of 2007. Since 2009, the Ministry of
Finance and the State Administration of Taxation have
issued a series of regulations and rules, with retroactive
effect on 1 January 2008, concerning group restructuring
(collectively, the “Group Restructuring Tax Rules”). The
Group Restructuring Tax Rules stipulate that the capital
gain derived from equity transfer should be recognised
when the transfer agreement takes effective and the
changing procedures related to the equity transfer
are completed. The directors are of the opinion that in
substance the Restructuring was completed in 2007 and
hence before the effective date of Group Restructuring
Tax Rules. Accordingly, the directors are of the view that
it is more likely that the Restructuring will not cause any
significant tax impact on the Group. Consequently, no
tax provision thereon has been made in these financial
statements.

11. Profit attributable to equity holders of the
company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012
includes a loss of approximately RMB15,647,000 (2011:
RMB25,643,000), which was arrived at after deducting
dividend income approximately RMB80,090,000
(2011: RMB62,050,000) from the Company’s profit of
approximately RMB64,443,000 (2011: RMB36,407,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (Note 30(b)).

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂji%iﬁ%%ﬁj%}

20124128314

10. FrE# (&)

11.

R E £2007F12HA31B It F & -
AEEETETERRNEA(TE
M) RESH AEELABLED
REEWNBARRETHENEAR
REFAEZRECEEEAEEET
EEHB AR - AEBR2007FF
ERIESEHIINE ZEBEEIERNH
8 - B2009F #E + A EEB R R B
BRPEM R AEHEEEEHEN
ERERA ([ ESEEHEBB
#HAI]) B ZE20085FE1 1B AL
e EEEARERAR CEZR
HERERKRAERE R RER
B EET FERER 85
RE BHEE FER2007FFE
T EMERNEBEAHRBEL
ERATTER - At - EERABEAR
BAE T AEEERTMER
ISR o EIL I & E R A7
R VEN TR IE R o

RRATREEFE ARMEFE

H E2012F12A31H IEFE AR
AR AFEE ARESEEFBERELY
A K #15,647,0007C (20114F © A
R #25 643,0007T) WEE - 1 B
AN aE FEL A R%64,443,0000T
(20114 : A R ®36,407,0007T)
IR B B U A #49 A FR #80,090,000
7C (20114« A R #¥62,050,000
JC) BER - W EEANR R SR
= ERIE (fizE30(b)) °

12. Dividends 12. K&
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Interim — RMB0.043 FH — BT AR
(2011: RMBO0.033) AR#0.0437T
per ordinary share (20114 : AR¥0.0337T) 35,690 27,390
Proposed final - RMB0.029 Bk AR B — G E B
(2011: RMB0.035) ARE0.0297T
per ordinary share (20114 : AR¥0.0357T) 28,884 29,050
64,574 56,440
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the ZNAF S H R SR BR A% B ZE PO R JE IR R

approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

g8
BFEARE LESARBRRLE
JTRMEE °
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012512 A31H

13. Earnings per share attributable to ordinary

equity holders of the company

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB322,681,000 (2011:
RMB280,298,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 860,926,000 (2011: 830,000,000) in
issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

13.

RAFEBRRAFAEARE
HERER

BREABFNOSBEIIRBEATE
BIA R R E B AEE A (LT
HARM322,681,0007T (20114 :
AR¥£280,298,000T) MFERNEE
17 A% A hn4E T ¥921860,926,000
A% (20114F : 830,000,0008%) &
Bt o

BREFRNSBEIFAEDRER
NEEBERERAE ARG ZFEAF
B ESL R ETERcER
BB SR EERERN
BNZFRDHTEBREE - K
RREITEZABEETERRA
EERRREBEERT T BRINE
FHE -

BREAREERNGFETIER

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBT T
Earnings &7
Profit attributable to ordinary AEsTE &R
equity holders of the Company BEREF 2
used in the basic earnings AR R)E BRI A
per share calculation BAE AEGERE 322,681 280,298

Number of shares

REOEAE
2012 2011
’000 ‘000
TH T A%
Shares g
Weighted average number of B{EstE &Rk
ordinary shares in issue during HAREF2
the year used in basic earnings R &E/TLER
per share calculation Ik 860,926 830,000
Effect of dilution — weighted BEoRE - TEK
average number of ordinary RS
shares:
Share options B e 2,026 -
862,952 830,000

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)
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14. Property, plant and equipment 14. 1% - BERRE CONSOLIDATED
ChsH FLows
Group REE BABLRER
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold ~Machineries equipment
improve- and and fixtures
ments  equipment EF&4 > Construction
Buildings ~ BEWE BER  Vehicles HAZERE  inprogress Total STATEMENT
Bz % #fF  ERIE R#E  RBIE fit o F'PNS\SN”C"&LI
RMBO0O  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB00)  RMBO00  RMB000  RMBO00 P

ARRTR ARBTR ARETR ARRTR ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR

31 December 2012 2012127318

At 31 December 2011 and  R2011£128318

1 January 2012; R2012E1 418 :

Cost KA 461,669 5,273 1,581,941 30,064 60,900 248,458 2,388,305

Accumulated depreciation ~ Z:HH7E

and impairment kW (305572) (53)  (482730)  (18566)  (27261) - (559,661) NOTES TO

Net carrying amount BEHE 431,007 4,741 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248,458 1,828,644 sTf\IT’:E?VINE[i\:‘T“S-
At 1 January 2012, R01241R18 BEHEN

net of accumulated Mk

depreciation and ZitifE

impairment KRE 431,097 4,741 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248,458 1,828,644
Additions AE 4,663 2,324 27873 5,370 7316 830,289 877,835
Disposals e - - (4,067) (473) (439) - (4,979)
Depreciation provided WAREE

during the year ERE (16,678) (2023) (102,804 (4466)  (13735) - (139,706) N
Acquisition of subsidiaries  YEEHTBA A FINANCIAL

(Note 31) (K31) §76 - 16,809 281 474 18430 36,870 Lot
Transfers upon completion  SEFXAEEA 65,019 1,692 448,380 4,769 9,174 (529,034) - :
At 31 December 2012, R2012E12A318

net of accumulated Mk

depreciation and Zithe

impairment KAE 484,977 6,734 1,485,402 16,979 36,429 568,143 2,598,664
At 31 December 2012 H2012F12A31H

Cost R 532,154 9,288 2,062,472 37540 76,873 568,143 3,286,470

Accumulated depreciation  Z:HH7E

and impairment R (az117) (2,554)  (577,070) (20,561) (40,444) - (687,806)
Net carrying amount REFE 484,977 6,734 1,485,402 16,979 36,429 568,143 2,598,664
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CONSOLIDATED 14. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 14. Y% - BERZE (&)
STATEMENT OF
GamanEh SIS Ham
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold equipment
improve-  Machineries and fixtures
ments and EF&#E - Construction
STATEMENT Buldings ~ MEME  equipment Vehicles  HAERE  inprogress Total
ggsﬁ%mcm BF KB KEREE W EHIA RE  RRIRE Bt
BT RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREBTR ARETT ARETR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
31 December 2011 2011£12831R
At 1 January 2011: R2011E1R1A :
Cost KA 419,851 - 1,442,993 28,451 49,798 115,973 2,057,066
Accumulated ZithE
depreciation and R
LII[:ITAENS .II.I[\)L impairment (19,285) - (396,617) (16,021) (19,732) - (451,655)
STATElleNTS Net carrying amount FmFE 400,566 - 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115,973 1,605,411
At 1 January 2011, R2011E1A18 -
net of accumulated MRE2HHAE
depreciation and RirifE
impairment 400,566 - 1,046,376 12,430 30,066 115,973 1,605,411
Additions RE 2,383 5,229 37,516 2,695 7,738 247,391 302,952
Disposals HE (1,843) - (8,159) (14) (3.797) - (13813)
Depreciation provided ~ RAER
FVEVEAR during the year TERE (15,259) 62)  ©3T) BT (78%0) - (117846)
FINANCIAL Acquisition of subsidiaries  MEEHTBAE
;Jggg;gw (Note 31) (HfzE31) 33072 - 18,868 - - - 51940
A Transfers upon completion  EAREBEA 12,178 44 94,981 181 7522 (114,906) -
At31 December 2011, R2011412A318 -
net of accumulated Bl
depreciation and ZHHER
impairment HE 431,097 474 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248,458 1,828,644
At31 December 2011:  R2011412A318 :
Cost KA 461,669 5,273 1,581,941 30,064 60,900 248,458 2,388,305
Accumulated ZithE
depreciation and KR
impaiment (30572) (532)  (482730)  (18566)  (27.261) - (559661)
Net carrying amount REFE 431,097 4,741 1,099,211 11,498 33,639 248 458 1,828,644
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14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂjﬁ*&%‘%ﬁﬁ%

20124124318

14. W¥ - BMERRE (&)

Company RATE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
At 1 January: M1A18 :
Cost PR 627 627
Accumulated depreciation ZFHTE (393) (263)
Net carrying amount BREFE 234 364
At 1 January, net of m1A18 -
accumulated depreciation Nk E:time 234 364
Additions NE 38 -
Depreciation provided during the year ~ RERITE (129) (130)
At 31 December, net of M®12A318 -
accumulated depreciation MR ERFHTE 143 234
At 31 December: M12H318 :
Cost B AR 665 627
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (522) (393)
Net carrying amount BREFE 143 234

The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment held under finance leases included in the
total amounts of machineries and equipment and vehicles
at 31 December 2012 amounted to RMB147,000 (2011:
RMB828,000) and nil (2011: RMB544,000), respectively.

As at 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s buildings,
with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB114,695,000, were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (Note 26(a)(i)).

R2012F12H31H » BIEEHEN
REREHT AR AEERHBRE
HETHENETYE  BEEX
HHERTE S E S B A A R%147,000
7 (20114F + A R #828,000T) &
= (20114 : ARM544,0007T) °

R2011FE12A31H + AEBME TE
FHBREFELHAREE114,695,000
TEEEBEARNEBER —RIR
TEEMER (FizE26(a)(i)) °
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012412 A31H

15. AR L EER

15. Prepaid land lease payments

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BATARER Group
RATF
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBFIT
Net carrying amount at 1 January M A1BEREFE 131,224 109,158
Additions NE 13,255 770
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) Wkt E AT (F1EE31) 12,320 24,404
SLAFT&’\QEHAL Recognised during the year RENTER (3,556) (3,108)
POSITION Net carrying amount at 31 December M12A31BEREFE 153,243 131,224
LS Current portion included in STATENF Bk
prepayments, deposits and H A FEUCREY BN ER 53 5D
other receivables (Note 21) (PfFzE21) (3,661) -
Net carrying amount at 31 December M12A31 BERmE S E 149,582 131,224

AEEA LI ERESRERS
MAFA LA B A o

All of the Group’s land use rights are held under long term
leases and are situated in Mainland China.

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

R2011512A8318 @ BERmFEA
AR #30,322,0007T H £ i {F A #
BEAAEERITEE ZHEM (K

As at 31 December 2011, land use rights with an
aggregate net carrying amount of RMB30,322,000 were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HETHHE
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16.

Group (Note 26(a)(ii)).

FE26(a)(ii)) °

Goodwill 16. BE
Group REME
RMB’000
AR¥T T
At 1 January 2011: 201151 A1R -
Cost PR AR 59,753
Accumulated impairment ZENREIAE -
Net carrying amount RESE 59,7563
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of PR2011FE1 818 - K Rst
accumulated impairment B Z AN 59,753
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) IWEEMTB A ) (FizE31) 43,542
At 31 December 2011 M20114F12A431H 103,295
At 31 December 2011: MR2011%F12A31H :
Cost A 103,295
Accumulated impairment REDRIE =
Net carrying amount BRAFE 103,295
Cost at 1 January and 31 December 2012, 20121 18 k128318 Z A -
net of accumulated impairment R 2EHRE 103,295
At 31 December 2012: 2012124318 -
Cost AR 103,295
Accumulated impairment REDRIE =
Net carrying amount BREFE 103,295

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)



16. Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations
in amounts of RMB1,809,000, RMB57,944,000 and
RMB43,542,000 has been allocated to the beverage cans
cash-generating unit, plastic packaging cash-generating
unit, and steel barrels cash-generating units, respectively.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has been
impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2.4 to the financial statements. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering each asset’s remaining
life. Cash flows applying to each asset’s remaining life are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates. The growth
rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates for
the packaging businesses in which the cash-generating
units operate.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

e  (Gross margins 19% ~ 23%
° Growth rates 2% ~ 35%
° Discount rates after tax 15%

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and its expectations for market
development. The weighted average growth rates used are
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.
The discount rates used are after-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-
generating unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂji%iﬁ%%ﬁj%}
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16. & (&)

EmERERR
EREBEHBENEE S A
= A R 1,809,000 - A B ¥
57,944,0007T & A R #43,542,000
T ERRSRESRHECRESE
HEBA - BBRERCESELEN
Niim s R eEAEBA -

AEERIEV B IRARM L2 4P H Y
SHE  BFAAEBERDR
8- BeELEMAR B WFIER
BEREEFEETE - LT ERE
EEEHESHREENGRAIEREF
RIFLZHBRERERETRE
MIRA - BRNBREENRAE
RFERzRSBIZBAAERL X
RETEEAR ZIERXRWRBBB
ReELBEUNEEZREREHRY

HEREEFENEERR

o FEFIE 19% ~ 23%
o HEX 2% ~ 35%
o TIEITIAE 15%

EEERBEBERRUAREHMS
LRZEHIREBEENE - f£
A2 PR RRBAITRRE T
BRE B EAZITRRBREK
HF W RRAERE D B A AR

EXZRR AT OESEAKENE
ERJ[HOEFMAEARESH TS
ReELENNRASEBREER
YW Bl S5 -
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Notes to Financial Statements
B FE 4R FMisE 8 December 2012

2012412 A31H

17. Other intangible assets

17. Etb B EE

Group rEE
Customer Computer
relationship software Total
EFBE EREY &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®ETR

31 December 2012 M2012612831H
Cost at 1 January 2012, net of 201291 A1H

accumulated amortisation b REHE AR 1,540 4,145 5,685
Additions NE - 3,003 3,003
Amortisation provided during the year 4 A $H - (1,305) (1,305)
At 31 December 2012 201212 A31H 1,540 5,843 7,383
At 31 December 2012: #R20126F12A318 :

Cost [B#%N 1,540 13,259 14,799

Accumulated amortisation Rt EE - (7,416) (7,416)

Net carrying amount AREFE 1,540 5,843 7,383
31 December 2011 20115128318
At 1 January 2011: R2011EFE1A18 -

Cost PR 1,540 9,571 11,111

Accumulated amortisation i = (4,847) (4,847)

Net carrying amount IREFE 1,540 4,724 6,264
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of M20115F1H1R8

accumulated amortisation kR Kt Ak A 1,540 4,724 6,264
Additions NE - 685 685
Amortisation provided during the year 5 REEEH - (1,264) (1,264)
At 31 December 2011 2011812 A31H 1,540 4,145 5,685
At 31 December 2011 and 20116124318

at 1 January 2012: Km201261 A18 -

Cost (39N 1,540 10,256 11,796

Accumulated amortisation S5 - (6,111) (6,111)

Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 4,145 5,685

CPMC Holdings Limited g i HIR AR



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 =
20124123318 R3S ¥R R M
18. Investments in subsidiaries 18. RB R AINKRE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
Company SAmbAES
RAF
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREFIT
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETIRD - FRRAR 514,165 514,165
Due from subsidiaries A YNGR 2,153,700 2,090,392
2,667,865 2,604,557
STATEMENT
The amounts due from subsidiaries included in the BREERNAGERBEEANRNEK OF FINANCIAL
Company’s non-current assets are unsecured, interest-free MELRREREER T EK Eﬁ;;;i';g
and are not repayable within one year. In the opinion of the NEAR—FAKE - EFRAE & :
directors, these balances are considered as quasi-equity LB T W AR A4 T HIE R RIM %
loans to these subsidiaries. B -
The balance with subsidiaries included in the Company’s KRR RBDEEFBENHBEAR
current assets is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed RIERHAEER  TsHEREE
terms of repayment. & B o
. o o . NOTES T0
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEWNBRARNFBWOT : FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BB RRMEE
Nominal value Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration ERTER N} Principal
Company name and operations B/ RERDL activities FIVE-YEAR
AREE MRS RAEE B MiE IEER gmm&
RFMBHE
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging PRC/Mainland China US$30,050,000 - 100  Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * R/ REAM 30,050,000 7T metal packaging
MNP EREARERAR" SBARAE
Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd. *  PRC/Mainland China US$30,290,000 - 100  Manufacture of
BNEREROEERAR B/ HERM  30,290,000%T metal and
plastic packaging
SBNBERE
KE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.** PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 61.48  Manufacture of
mHERREARA R RE/HRERM  25000,000%T metal packaging
SBEELE
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China US$38,500,000 - 100  Manufacture of
(“Hangzhou CPMC”) FE/FHREIRNL 38,500,000 metal packaging
MNP EaRERAR SBARAE
(Mamigas])
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012512 A31H

18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

18. RKBE R RAMNRE (&)

Nominal value Percentage
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration ERITLEE RRATFTHE Principal
Company name and operations BRA /2 REBDL activities
ARER AR &R RAEE H# MiE TEXEHR
COFCO Packaging Tianjin PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Company Limited * HE/HERS  50,000,000%T metal packaging
Higak (X)) BRAR CEBAREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$40,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
RIEEHE () BRAR HE/HERNE  40,000,000% T metal packaging
CERRAEE
CPMC (Zhenjiang) Can End Co., Ltd. **  PRC/Mainland China US$10,250,000 - 100  Manufacture of
RiReE (1) ZEERAF HE/HRERM  10,250,000%T metal packaging
CEEREEE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China  RMB17,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
RREPEEFRAA™ FE/RERM AR® metal packaging
17,000,0007T cERRAEE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
FREE (HE) BRAR” FE /HERE  30,000,000%T metal packaging
cBRREE
Shenzhen CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
PR aRARAR B/ RER AR% metal packaging
50,000,0007C TEERLE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * RE/PEAM  39,750,000%7T metal packaging
MM RREERAF" TERREE
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC/Mainland China US$3,800,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. * B /R E A 3,800,000 7T plastic packaging
LEREEBIEER AR BROREE
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$18,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
(“CPMC Kunshan”) FE /FREIRY 18,000,000 metal packaging
FieaE (BU) BRAR” EBAREE
(ThERE (RIL)])
CPMC (Zhenijiang) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$17,750,000 - 100  Manufacture of
HRigRE (B1) BRAR" HE L/ HEIAM  17,750,000%7T metal packaging

TEERAE

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012
20124128318 R3S ¥R R M
18. Investments in subsidiaries (continued) 18. RMBARMNERE (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
: CASH FLOWS
Nominal value Percentage YN T
of issued of equity
ordinary/ attributable
registered to the Company
Place of share capital Direct  Indirect
registration BRTLE NG}t Principal
Company name and operations BRA&/Ef REBDL activities
DAER BRI ES -k RAHEE B BE IE¥K
STATEMENT
. . . OF FINANCIAL
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 = 100  Manufacture of POSITION
Co., Ltd. *** FE/HERM  30,000,000%T metal packaging B
EMPREREER AR CBOREE
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. **  PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 90 Manufacture of
(“Tianjin Huanya’) HE/HERS  10,000,000%T plastic packaging
RLA%E (RE) BRRA PROREE
(TRERER])
“ ; : * A A
 Siolorgreauty it venes - AI2E5% FANCIAL
***  Domestic-funded enterprises o AELEE STATEMENTS
IR R
The English names of all the above companies are direct A BRI X2 T Ty H A A
transliterations of their Chinese registered names. BRENEETE o
The statutory financial statements of the above subsidiaries FIRHE AR REE M ISR I IE
are not audited by Emnst & Young, Hong Kong or another BAEBRKETANEBAT - sk Kk
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network. SERMEBMEREAKRANS —&
BB RRIFTARE -
During the year, the Group acquired Paulian Investment RAFE - AEEWEEHKRERE
Holding Limited (“Paulian”) and its subsidiary. Further BERAR ((EH]) RAKHER e
details of this acquisition are included in Note 31 to the A o W2 #E—PFBHN YK SUMMARY
financial statements. RMIEEST © AFHHRE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERBINEERABETEFEAFE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected EEIENAEBARNBD FEER
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion RAFIMB AR - EFRA - 21
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other HiMBE R RN FIEEERELK

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to Financial Statements
B FE 4R FMisE 8 December 2012

2012412 A31H

19. Inventories 19. &

Group

AEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREFIT
Raw materials JRA R 384,615 324,894
Work in progress R m 145,938 159,843
Finished goods X 325,266 368,729
Consumables FEM 44,508 15,920
900,327 869,386

20. Trade and bills receivables

20. EFRURREBVRE

Group

HEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T ARBTTT

Trade and bills receivables from

REE=NEFPNEHE

third-party customers Wk & e E 5 669,286 576,816
Trade and bills receivables from R B REEE T R E 5 R
related parties (Note 36(b)) P ESE
(FfF5E36(b)) 30,007 33,797
699,293 610,613
Impairment VERIER (1,035) (1,129)
698,258 609,484

CPMC Holdings Limited g i HIR AR



Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂja’%ﬁiﬁzl}ﬁ%

20124124318

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued) 20. EZEUWRREREE (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly REBEGETEFPEESR  HHEP ig%'g%g
on credit, except for new customers, where payment ARZABENTR - EEH—HKAI0 T
in advance is normally required. The credit period is ZNOXR - BEREFHARSEE
generally for 30 to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum o REESRKERIESHERESR
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control JEUWERR - KRB EEESIHEE
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control ERREERERE - afREBAED
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are FgEHRNBHARIE - REEIT R
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does BEE 5 A R I IR
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over mAEMEERE - BHEKRKZ STATEMENT
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non- TEFEHR] © OF HPNoAleTcl‘é\lh
interest-bearing. BHES R E
The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are AEBEBEEALT ZESERFKTIZ
repayable on similar credit terms to those offered to the MASEXrZRFRENEUGEE
major customers of the Group. IERFRIER o
An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at R ERERENE F BRI
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date EWEHEEEZ A - WHNREE
and net of provisions, is as follows: HIRRE AT T TR
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
DN BBERKR
REE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Within 3 months 3EAA 692,228 604,315
3 to 12 months 3&12{@AH 5,904 4,583
1to 2 years 15824 126 451
Over 2 years 2F A E - 135 FFl'k‘/ENYCE&\\FL‘
698,258 609,484 SUMMARY
RFMBHE
The movements in provision for impairment of trade B I EBGRH R EREE ST

receivables are as follows:

Group
REHE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
At 1 January »1A1H 1,129 3,527
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) BER /(#E) 2 REEE 517 (38)
Amount written off as uncollectible MR YO 2 & 58 (611) (2,360)
At 31 December M12A31H 1,035 1,129

Annual Report 2012 —Z— —FE -I 6 1
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20. EZ BRI RERRE (&)
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CONSOLIDATED 20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB1,035,000 (2011: RMB1,129,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB1,035,000 (2011:
RMB1,129,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

ELESREKFOREREF &
FE¥ A R#1,035,0007T (20114F ¢
AR¥1,129,0007T) ERIEREZ
SRERWR 2 BE HEGINEREE
EAARME1,035,0007T (20114 :
AR#1,129,0007T) °

@R ERER S REKERFHR
B EFP RN ER Y@ RGN
JEUTFRIA

RME R KRR SRENE 5 E
WRE BRER D ATIA T

Group

rEH
2012 2011
NOTES TO RMB’000 RMB’000
gﬁ#ﬂﬁlﬁrs ARMT T ARETTT
SHERME Neither past due nor impaired R E R ARRE 693,822 605,259
Less than 1 month past due BRI {E A 2,452 1,919
1 to 3 months past due BHEA1 = 3{E B 192 1,467
More than 3 months past due £ BB B 31 A 1,792 839
698,258 609,484

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HETHHE
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Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to the customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)

R 380 H 7 R ORL (B Y JE M RR B AT H
BERACENEFEH -

B8 HE R AF R B 2 FE Wk R T 2
AEEBRUR DRI KER L
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21. Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂjﬁ*&%‘%ﬁﬁ%

2012412 A31H

21. AR - REREMBERR

Group Company
AEE VNN
2012 2011 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETRT AR%¥TR ARETT
Current assets REEE
Prepayments to third-party BN TFE= A HER
suppliers ZER 250,384 401,884 4,426 5,495
Deposits e 7,709 7,242 135 105
Input VAT recoverable AI i [o] 7 #E TG E R 105,138 98,348 - -
Prepaid expenses SCANE=9:E 3,127 2,354 - =
Other receivables H i el k8 25,296 14,963 7,494 399
Amounts due from related FEURBEE A 5KI8
parties (Note 36(b)) (FF5E36(b)) 52 232 - =
Prepaid land lease Jaft LA E R
payments (Note 15) GESR)) 3,661 - - -
395,367 525,023 - -
Impairment BE (3,216) (2,904) - =
392,151 522,119 12,055 5,999
Non-current assets FREEE
Other receivables E b fEUGR 1,221 1,849 - =
The movements in the provision for impairment of other H{th fE W FOR E B =BT
receivables are as follows:
Group
AEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBTT
At 1 January ®1A1H 2,904 3,243
Impairment losses recognised BEERREEE 343 902
Amount written off as uncollectible i RN E e (31) (1,241)
At 31 December M®12A31H 3,216 2,904

The prepayments, deposits and other receivables are non-

interest-bearing.

BAR - B2 REMEEFEAEZT
TEH -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012512 A31H

CONSOLDATED 22. Cash and cash equivalents and pledged 2. RERREEBEYRESER
STATEMENT OF deposits (XN
CASH FLOWS
BARSRER
Group Company
rEE VNN
2012 2011 2012 2011

Notes RMB'000  RMB'O00 RMB’000  RMB'000
Hiz  AREBTR ARETE ARETR ARETET

Cash and bank balances e RIR1THEH 1,708,944 1,677,142 756,732 803,267
STATEMENT Less: X
OF FINANGIAL Pledged deposits for letters ~ FiF A {5 FAE(E
POSITION of credit HR 2 EH (27132)  (41,112) - =
ABHRRR Pledged deposits for HEMNEEE
bills payable HRZ 70 24 (4,515)  (21,307) - =
Pledged deposits for FIRTTIERE
bank borrowings R ZFR 26(a)(iii) - (2,907) - -
(31,647)  (65,326) -
Cash and cash equivalents & KRG EEY 1,677,297 1,611,816 756,732 803,267

RMEHR - ZEBUARE (TA
RE]) sTEMRE RIBITHEB A
A R #440,784,0007T (20114F : A

NOTES TO At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank

;ﬁ#gﬂéﬁm balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)

P RRHE amounted to RMB440,784,000 (2011: RMB533,618,000).

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
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The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)

R #533,618,0007T) © A R# R d]
ERABABEMER - Al - RIE
R A A SN DE R AR DI K A B -
EERNEEERE  ASEAE
BER BN EINEZEFHRITEA
RESMABHME -

RITRSRE BRITHFRA K HRE
FEBHNE c REAKREHREFK
2O - FEHE B TE R S
—BE=ERTF  DRIRAEMZ
75 HATE BT SN R BRENR B, o ERAT
RBREAERERDEROHER
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23.

24.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts to manage its market price risk arising from the
fixed unit price of aluminum to certain Group’s customers
conducted in the normal course of business. These
commodity futures contracts are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Net fair value loss on derivative
financial instruments of RMB5,214,000 (2011: Nil) was
charged to cost of sales in the income statement during
the year (Note 6).

The Group did not have unsettled commodity futures
contracts or other derivative financial instruments as at 31
December 2012 (2011: Nil).

Trade and bills payables
An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the

end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

23.

24. &

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 Hﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ‘f?

2012412 A31H

PTTEERMIA

REBEDIIVZHEZHERRAEY
AR EEIRERBRERAEER
FTEREFETEMAANMEZN TS
BREAR ZEFRIEELALEA
FEFAEZ FA - TESRT
BEmF AT EREARES 214,000
TC (20114 « &) s AWM Z R A4
ERAH (HEE6) °

K &£ E R2012%F12H318 (2011
Fo8) ENREENERRE M
BHREMITESRT A -

ZRARKENRE
RBEMERE - REZAHFE

NESENR R EMNZEORED
HranT

Group

REEH
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET ARBTIT
Within 3 months 3EAA 454,209 800,022
3 to 12 months 3212 A 36,773 51,533
1 to 2 years 1Z224F 4,002 1,707
Over 2 years 2FEPA 1,955 2,534
496,939 855,796

Included in the trade and bills payables are trade B o RN R RENZR &%J‘Eﬁ—

payables of RMB386,000 (2011: RMB328,000) due to
a fellow subsidiary which are repayable within 90 days,
which represents similar credit terms offered by a fellow
subsidiary to their major customers (Note 36(b)).

As at 31 December 2012, certain of the Group’s bills
payable were secured by the Group’s bank deposits
amounting to RMB4,515,000 (31 December 2011:
RMB21,307,000) (Note 22).

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 days.

FRRMBARNE S ENK

R #386,0007T (2011F : AR ﬁg
328,0007T) * #% % X 1A /A 90 H
NEE  B-HRRXNBARSGT
HIBRPZEEGRRASE (ME
36(b)) °

MR2012F12A31H » REEMHET
R EBEUARNEBRRITERE &
A E ¥4 515,0007T (20115124
318 : AR #21,307,0007T) EH
# (Kf5E22) °

BORNAEENREER TR
W - BEERHBER30E90H °
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

2012412 A31H

CONSOLIDATED 25. Other payables and accruals 25. HittEEN R R ESTIEH
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
BEARSTER Group Company
#%E AR
2012 2011 2012 2011

RMB’000  RMB'0O00  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR AREBTE AR®TR ARETR

Advances from customers REER 39,446 61,479 - =
Salary and welfare payables B TE REH 75,259 55,097 - -
Accrued expenses fEFTEH 35,481 40,117 14,036 13,748
SLAFT&’\KEHAL Guarantee deposits from suppliers {tERR &4 13,701 13,852 - =
POSITION Payables for purchases R ERENTE
BRRR of equipment 50,977 15,529 - =
Amounts due to related parties JETEE A 38
(Note 36(b)) (F§5E36(b)) 757 48 - =
Tax payables other than current [ & HRFTISH
income tax liabilities BEINERTIR 36,599 21,430 16,042 9,443
Consideration payable JERIRAE 3,563 40,000 - =
Others Hih 37,808 47,213 - -
293,591 294,765 30,078 23,191
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
%ggg;';;gs Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and Hin gt RETIER B Tat &
‘ have an average term of three months. B - FHFHR=MA -

FIVE-YEAR
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂj%i&%ﬁj—i

2012412 A31H

26. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 26. FTERITRHEMER CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Group EN S BABLRER
2012 2011
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BRaHRE Maturity ~ RMB000 ER4&4FI= Maturity RMB'000
(%) 3 AR¥Trn (%) I8 ARETR
STATEMENT
Current ] OF FINANCIAL
Bank loans - unsecured BITER - BER 168 - 5.60 20130r 1,344,809  1.36-6.60 2012 265,038 POSITION
on demand FABRAR
20135,
REXEE
Bank loans - secured RITEH — HHA - - - 338-6.10 2012 47,908
Other loans - unsecured HiER - B
(Note 36(h)) (HiFE36(b)) 5.04 2013 259,000 6.10 2012 56,000
1,603,809 368,946
Non-current E 13|
Bank loans - unsecured BTER - BER 1,06 - 2.07 2014 817115  1.06-250 2014 1,822,050 NOTES TO
2,420,924 2,190,996 snﬁ'r"e?w"eﬂ%
BBERMEE
Company AAT
2012 2011
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
EREHTIR Maturity RMB000 ERSHFE Maturity RMB'000 FIVE-YEAR
(%) B ARETR (%) 38 ARETR FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
Current A REBBHE
Bank loans - unsecured RITEF - BHEAR  168-250 20130r 1,188,565 136 2012 189,704
on demand
2013%5,
REXREER
Non-current ERE
Bank loans - unsecured RITER - B 1.06 - 2.07 2014 817115 1.06-2.50 2014 1,822,050
2,005,680 2,011,754
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2012512 A31H

CONSOLIDATED 26. Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 26. sFERITREMMER ()
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
BABAREE
Group Company
#%EE AR
2012 2011 2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETE AR®TR AREKETRT

Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: FER T 5 BAfE
OF FIVANCIAL CEmE
POSITION A
B E Within one year or —FRRILERK
on demand BE 1,344,809 312,946 1,188,565 189,704
In the second year F_4F 817,115 = 817,115 =
In the third to fifth years, FEZEFERTF
inclusive BIEERME - 1,822,050 - 1,822,050

2,161,924 2,134,996 2,005,680 2,011,754
Other borrowings repayable:  FER T3 HARIEE

(H£H .
NOTES TO o HYEABIATK :
FINANCIAL Within one year —F R 259,000 56,000 - -
TATEMENT
R 2,420,924 2,190,996 2,005,680 2,011,754
Notes: Biat -
(a) At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s bank loans (a) R2011F12A31H @ K& B a &
were secured by: FIRITE U T2 EEEREH -
(i) the Group’s buildings, which had an aggregate net () ZFEEGEF FKEFEZ
carrying amount of RMB 114,695,000 (Note 14); A K 114,695,000 ([
FIVE-YEAR it14)
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY (i) the Group’s land use rights, which had an aggregate (i)  AKFEE a1 (& ARE
AEREHE net carrying amount of RMB30,322,000 (Note 15); and JF B 5 A R #30,322,000
T (Bfat15) + &
(iii) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits (iii) AN E ) E FER 7 AHEA
amounting to RMB2,907,000 (Note 22). A E ¥29070005T (A i#
22) .
(b) Except for bank loans of RMB1,005,680,000 (2011: (b) B A K #1,005680,0007T (2011
RMB1,011,754,000) which are denominated in United States F AR K1,011,754,0000C) 9
dollars, all borrowings are in RMB. RITE KA ETTEES - FTE B
HUA REETHE -
(c) The Group’s other loans are advanced from a fellow (c) ZAEEZHEMEFLRZN B A
subsidiary, COFCO Finance, which is a wholly-owned FIEEIFEBAT - IR B R HE S
subsidiary of COFCO. 2 ENELA] -
(d) Included in the Group’s and the Company’s bank loans (d) FrAFKEER KL A R2012F12
repayable within one year or on demand at 31 December H31H AR —F A 1ZEEZEKANE
2012 is a term loan of RMB1,000,000,000, which will mature BB IR 7T B 5 3 45 R20144F 2 B
in 2014, with an on-demand clause. A B #1,000,000,000T B 1 E
A BT EIEEKEEREL
1 68 CPMC Holdings Limited g i HIR AR




27. Deferred tax

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:

27.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂj%i&%ﬁj—i

2012412 A31H

IR FE B H

FREEREEELAENEDN
™

Deferred tax assets EEREEE
Group AEE
Decelerated  Decelerated
Provision for tax tax
Provision for Provisionfor ~ Provision  impairment depreciation amortisation
impairment  impairment for write-  of property, of property,  on the pre-
of trade of other downof  plantand  plantand  operating
receivables  receivables inventories  equipment  equipment  expenses Others Total
EARYR  EfELR #E ey Rk AERZAE
AERE  HERE  KERE oAESGE WRERERE  HRES At EH
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR¥TT  ARBTR ARMTR ARMTn ARMTR ARMTR AR¥TR ARETR
At 1 January 2011 RO1E1R1R 802 896 566 3,645 386 191 5,866 12,352
Deferred tax charged REEBLRANGRRA
to the consolidated income TRAET
statement during the year (Note 10) %78 (KizH10) (431) (65) (2893) (490) - - (79 (1,318)
Gross deferred tax assets R011F12A318
at 31 December 2011 Re01251A1A
and 1 January 2012 MEETHREE 371 831 313 3,155 386 191 5787 11,034
Deferred tax credited(charged) REEEGANGERA
to the consolidated income e /(15)
statement during the year (Note 10)  EREREE (FizH10) (19) 13 521 (736) S ; 5174 5053
Gross deferred tax assets R2012612A318
at 31 December 2012 MEEHELE 352 944 834 2,419 386 191 10,961 16,087
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Notes to Financial Statements
5) +=} 31 December 2012
R e 2012412 431H
CONSOLIDATED 27. Deferred tax (continued) 27. EEFE (&)
STATEMENT OF
Eff': FLOWS Deferred tax liabilities ELEBEEE
[uN=} ﬁzt//n.ii
Group REH
Withholding
Accelerated tax taxation of the
Accelerated tax  depreciation of unremitted earnings
amortisation of  property, plant of certain
STATEMENT land use rights ~ and equipment subsidiaries Total
Do - THEAR B EERRE  ATHEOTAEA
BMEMRE ZMERE R ZINBBENE BRZENHR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AEETT AEETT AEETT
At 1 January 2011 RO011E1A1A 1,046 1,287 2,120 4,453
Deferred tax (credited)/charged REERGENGER
to the consolidated income (BE)/ THEELHE
statement during the year (Note 10) (B3E10) (79) (390) 630 167
NOTES T0 Gross deferred tax liabilities R2011E128318
FINANCIAL at 31 December 2011 R01251A1A
STATEMENTS and 1 January 2012 HERTEHEAR 973 897 2,750 4,620
REE LU Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) WEHBAR (31 40 137 - 177
Deferred tax credited to the WEEEGEUGERR
consolidated income statement BEERA (M:10)
during the year (Note 10) (77) (135) (1,530) (1,742)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R2012E12A318
at 31 December 2012 MEETRERRE 936 899 1,220 3,055
FIVE-YEAR The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of K% B miﬂéiﬁlﬁgﬁﬁ/\
I RMB10,678,000 (2011: RMB12,129,000) that will expire in K #10,678,0007T (391 1F AR
EBEEE one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. #12,129,0007T) * R —ERFA

JE TR P 3 8 R SRR AR A A
HRERERRACA —RERK
SEENHMERAR  BTRA/EA
EERERTANEAREHEATE AR
BIRER - A AR FERARAELH
REE °

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.
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27.

28.

Deferred tax (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors.

27.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂja’%ﬁ;ﬁl}ﬁ%

20124124318

ERERIE (&)

BREFBRCEMSH L RPEA
KT N EDERRINEEES
R EY B B B IR10% B M TEI L - 1t
HER2008F1A1BHEAR - E@H
R2007F12A31H L EEA A
o At NEBAFNR RN
FX S B F A &) )A20084F1 A18 KA
BEENRBFTD IR S NIE
MA - WP B A A BN E
BFIERBEER 2 HE] A B H
T - BIRTREE B EERTEINFER o

Share capital 28. IR
Shares i gl
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Authorised: TETE
1,500,000,000 (2011: 1,500,000,000) BIEE.10 Bz TR
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,500,000,0008% (20114 :
1,500,000,000 F%) 132,072 132,072
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
996,000,000 (2011: 830,000,000) FREE0.10 BTz L@
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 996,000,000/ (20114 :
830,000,000/ ) 86,591 73,080

In October 2012, the Company issued 166,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each representing the 16.67%
of the then enlarged capital of the Company, at the price
of HK$5.51 per share. The proceeds of the issue, before
expenses, were approximately HK$914,660,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB744,469,000). Further details of
the transactions were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 16 October 2012.

M2012F108 - X A Al & & &
5.517% JT 2 {8 1& ¥ 17166,000,000
i & B 1H0.10/8 T 2 & @ A% -
HERARAERKHEENRAL
16.67% ° ZE/TATB B KR FAX
B) #)/4914,660,0007% 7t (0 & %
4 N R #744,469,0007T) ° X 5
ZE—TFBHINRARARBEA
201210 A 16 H Z A%
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Notes to Financial Statements
B ¥ 3R /Mt EE 31 December 2012

20124612 318

CONSOLDATED 28. Share capital (continued) 28. & (&)
STATEMENT OF
E?Af';ﬁ%i\'gi Shares (continued) K& (&)
e The transaction during the year in the Company’s issued ARBFRAEEHTRAZR SN
share capital is as follows: S 8
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BT
STATEMENT ROHBE SBRITRE RORER &5t
SES%NC'AL RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BN AREBTRT AR®TR AR¥Tx
At 1 January 2011, 20111 /818 »
31 December 2011 2011F12A318 &
and 1 January 2012 20121 H1H 830,000,000 73,080 1,522,349 1,595,429
Issue of shares BTG, 166,000,000 13,511 730,958 744,469
996,000,000 86,591 2,253,307 2,239,898
Share issue expenses A&1DEETR 2 = = (8,721) (8,721)
NOTES TO At 31 December 2012 M2012412H31H 996,000,000 86,591 2,244,586 2,331,177
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
B RRMEE Share options B
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the A AR B R AR R AT 83 1T
share options issued under the scheme are included in BY R AR R 1B 20 00 B TS AR BT
Note 29 to the financial statements. 29 °

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HETHHE

1 72 CPMC Holdings Limited #8512 A R A




Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂji%iﬁ%%ﬁj%}

20124128314

29. B AESTE

29. Share option scheme CONSOLIDATED

On 23 October 2009, the shareholders of the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) for the purpose of attracting, retaining
and motivating directors and eligible participants and
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible
participants include, but are not limited to, any directors,
(excluding independent non-executive directors), officers

20099 10H23H * AR EIMEREREA
I L R BR A T — TR BE I R AT
B ([Zat8)) 8ERS - ®EK
HEEEREER2EE Wi
BEARQRINMAEREZ  SE
MAERAXABEEMIE 4&
B EEAFREBTRNAEE TR
EE (TEEBYIENTES) &
FETIRES HEEFTEHNE

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FABSRER

STATEMENT
and employees of the Group, or any other person the A EM AL - %58 52009511 4 OF FINANCIAL
board of directors may propose. The Scheme shall be valid 16 AREAER - BRUEHARTF o ET;B;E%N

TN L

and effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16
November 2009.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any

BZETEI BRI B T RITE 2/
RERE R 1T B ] 3R B 2 AN | AR 1D
&= EREE - BHERARGER
BB 1T D 210% ° IME(A12
&AM - BEZERTEULE
B2 HE BB EITRMDZ
S8 E EEAEEERRAR R
BTN Z1% ° MBI R Hl 2
g — SR 2 BREAELESK
HRARE RSO ©

BTYARAES TBTTHARK
TERRABEFEMBEAZER
BABLBBUIFRTESTE - 11t
S RAEMI2EABEA T

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an RRABEERRIBEIIERITES FINANGIAL
independent non-executive director of the Company, or S E T B A Z (T (r] BE AR AE - 14 ﬁ;%%@;

to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of two to six years and ends on a date which
is not later than seven years from the date of offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

BEAAQNRTENEBEEETRNG
0.1% * SIZAR ARG R L B 5
2 BIEETE A8 E 815,000,000
g+ QB RRERRIRR A HE -

B N B IR 28 B R
AMER A AN A HIBTHRE
ARE - AIRHBRENTTER
HEFSET UYRMEANFHNE
BHIRR G RN BN B RER T
REisZst 8 Em B (AREE
AE) Bt EFZ AR -
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B +=} 31 December 2012
B SR M AT 2012412 A31A
CONSOLIDATED 29. Share option scheme (continued) 29. B fERT 8 ()
STATEMENT OF
Eﬁj';q%iw% The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BREZITEERESRE - BT
[N=E /== =] \ AN ] e =
i directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the BERHARBELEREZBERAQT
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on R EE Xz WmE: (NBER
the date of offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock L HBAAER S A ARRQFRGNE
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the Bt R P2 W TAE - (iR H 2
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; HE (UReERE) -
and (iii) the nominal value of share.
T Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BARET B THE ARREER
OF FINANCIAL dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. BEHRBREREAGIRE 2R -
POSITION
BB & . 8 A+
On 12 October 2011, a total of 8,300,000 share options M2011%F10A12H » & #£8,300,000
were granted to certain directors and employees of the g (2011 FEIRE]) BRT
Group in respect of their services to the Group in the rEEETHREERIES - MERK
forthcoming years (the “2011 Options”). ZABENAEERB A ZE -
The following 2011 Options were outstanding under the AT #Z et 81N 220114 B8 R i R 2R
Scheme during the year: FEMARITHE -
NOTES TO
FINANCIAL 2012 2011
STATEMENTS . .
e Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
hngE 5 AR R hnE R
FIITEE B FHIEE #H
HKS$ ’000 HK$ ‘000
per share per share
FIVE-YEAR BRET T4 SRET axn)
SUMMARY At 1 January B1A18 3.04 8,300 - -
AEBBHHE Granted during the year RAFEF T - - 3.04 8,300
At 31 December M12A31H 3.04 8,300 3.04 8,300

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)
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29. Share option scheme (continued)

The vesting periods, exercise price and exercise periods
of the 2011 Options outstanding as at 31 December 2011
and 2012 are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂjﬁ*&%‘%ﬁﬁ%

20124124318

29. BT E (&)

M20114 2012912 A31H » #H &
TE011EBREZERBY - 17&
BRITHEHHNT

Number of options granted

EREREHE Vesting period Exercise price  Exercise period
Directors  Employees Total  (dd-mm-yyyy) per share  (dd-mm-yyyy)
Bz E&8 &t BEH BRTEE TEH
'000 000 00 (A-A-%) HKS (A-B-%)
F 4 F i
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2013 3.04 12-10-2013 to 11-10-2014
2011107126 Z2013F10A 118 2013F10A12BE2014F10A11H
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2014 304 12-10-2014 to 11-10-2015
2011FE10A 128 22014F10A 118 2014F10 712 E2015F10A 118
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2015 304  12-10-2015 to 11-10-2016
2011F10A12B 220155107116 2015F10 12822016107 118
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2016 304  12-10-2016 to 11-10-2017
2011F10A 128 220165 10A 118 2016F10 4128 E£2017410A 118
280 1,380 1,660  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2017 304  12-10-2017 to 11-10-2018
2011E10A 128 22017810A 118 201710712 E2018410A 118
1,400 6,900 8,300

The fair value of the 2011 Options was HK$8,126,514 of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of
RMB1,955,000 during the year ended 31 December 2012
(2011: RMB392,000).

The fair value of the 2011 Options were estimated as at the
date of grant, using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

01MFE B R #E 22 FE A
8,126,514 T EHF AEEREZE
2012F 12 A31 8 (- F B rER B AR HE
Fi sz AR#1,955,0007T (2011 : A
R #392 0007T) °

2011 FHEREZ AFEIREL AR
A B =EAER G WEEE
B AR 2 R R o TR
TRET(E R 2 AR A 2 5 A B

2011 Options

2011 SF R AR I
Dividend yield (%) 1% B2 (%) 2.35
Expected volatility (%) TEHAR 1R(%) 38.48
Historical volatility (%) J&E SRR HR (%) 38.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ %2 7K1 3R (%) 1.12
Expected life of options (year) TEERRE AR B AER (40) 3.00 to 7.00
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) InEEFERE (BRAETT) 3.04

The expected life of the options is determined with
reference to the vesting term and original contractual term
of the Scheme and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

Bz ERBERTI2E %S

BEGRAREREOGERMETE -
BT —ERBRATBERITZITER
2\ o TR H R 08 S BR B SRR IR S R R
KBZEZBRE MET—ERER
KR o
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

29.

30.

2012512 A31H

Share option scheme (continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
8,300,000 (2011: 8,300,000) share options outstanding
under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 8,300,000 (2011:
8,300,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of HK$830,000 (2011:
HK$830,000) and share premium of HK$24,402,000 (2011:
HK$24,402,000) (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
shares issuable from the above outstanding share options
represented approximately 0.8% (2011: 1.0%) of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Reserves

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the
PRC are required to make appropriations to certain
statutory reserves, namely the reserve funds, from
their statutory profit for the year after offsetting
accumulated losses as determined under the PRC
accounting regulations from prior years and before
profit distribution to equity holders. The percentage
to be appropriated to such statutory reserve funds is
determined according to the relevant regulations in
the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the boards of
directors of the respective companies.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)

29.

30.

BRETE (&)

R BERAFERBENADEER
B o

B3R E B KR ARQFEZE
2| T~ ¥ £8,300,0001% (20114 :
8,300,00017 ) & 7K 17 {5 B8 AR #E o
EARBZHITRARET 2@
TEMATEBERESEHRET
8,300,0000% (20114 : 8,300,000
%) BBANAK QAR LB K E £
830,000/ 7T (20114 : 830,000/8
JU) Z BAINIR AN ] 24,402,000/ T
(20114 : 24,402,000/ 7T) 2 M
DB (CRETEITHASEAED °

REEZEMBHRE B - RE MU
FRARITEBEREZAEITRSG
1H5% B AR A B 1T R 7D 40.8%
(20114F : 1.0%) °

f#ta

(a) &~&£E
AEBRAFERBAFEZ
RESERFEREBENGRA
EREERZT -

/N NN AVA ol NP EERNE]
HHETEERBIELDIK
BNAR 5 /Bl & 51 25 Al 8 72 5 8
FTFERABEZRRAERTEE
ADIERFER - ¥5H T AT R
- AABSELDE - HiZ
EEERBESELEIENE S
tE - iR ¥R B B B AR E LA10%
EE ZHBHEARNESS

BBEEE
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2012412 A31H

30. Reserves (continued) 30. &% (&) CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF

= CASH FLOWS

(b) Company (b) XD H] BARSHER
Employee

share-based  Exchange
Share compensation  fluctuation Retained

premium reserve reserve profits Total
DIRBX A
RIAEE EEMERHE E ik BRAR &5t
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 STATEMENT
Fit  ARMTR ARMTI ARMTZ ARBTR ARMTR e o
At 1 January 2011 M2011F1R18 1,622,349 = (36,189) 20,166 1,506,326 FHRRR
Profit for the year FRFE 1 = = = 36,407 36,407
Equity-settled share EnkE
option arrangements B 29 - 392 - - 392
Exchange differenceson  [E{ =%
translation - - (48,161) - (48,161)
2011 interim dividend 011EHERE 12 - - - (27,390) (27,390)
Proposed 2011 final dividend ER011EXSME 12 - - - (29,050) (29,050) Frmﬁglm
At 31 December 2011 H2011E12A31H 1,622,349 392 (84,350) 133 1,438,524 STATEMENTS
IR R
Profit for the year ERFIHE 11 - - - 64,443 64,443
Equity-settled share BREE
option arrangements BRETS 29 - 1,955 - - 1,955
Exchange differenceson ~ EHZE
translation - - (2,504) - (2,504)
Issue of shares kb 28 730,958 - - - 730,958
Share issue expenses R ETHRY 28 (8.721) = = = (8.721)
2012interim dvidend 20124 8BRS 12 s s - (580 (3690) e
Proposed 2012 final dividend #8E2012E KRS 12 - - - (28,884) (28,884) SUMMARY
At31 December 2012 20126123318 2,244,586 2347 (86,850) 2 2160081 BRI
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2012512 A31H

31. Business combinations
Business combination for the year ended 31 December 2012

On 6 July 2012, COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
purchase agreement with Huang Weibo, pursuant to
which COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited agreed to purchase
all issued share capital of Paulian, which holds 65.25%
equity interest in Tianjin Huanya, at a cash consideration of
approximately USD1,878,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB11,948,000) (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was
made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share in the plastic packaging market.

A summary of the fair values of the related identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired as at the date of acquisition

31. ¥ 46t

BZ2012F12A31 AL FEFE 2 %7
et

R2012%F7A68 » AR ZE2EN
BARTIE (ABHEBRES) 534
BRARHEEE BRI -
BIEBRGE PR (RBERAR
HE) FM4BERAFRBAENRSNR
491,878,000 7c (HERHAR
#11,048,00070) WEEEH (FHX
EIRIN65.25% %) 2 EE BT
A([WKEEE]) - WEEEBEAELSE
ERRECBBBEMBHTISG
R RBE— 3615 -

RUEE B B E W8 2 B8 A] & &t Al
BERBEZAFERALLT

is as follows:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
U
BRZAFEE
Notes RMB’000
HeE ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEN&EE 14 36,870
Prepaid land lease payments JEf A E SR 15 12,320
Inventories FE 6,027
Trade and bills receivables B Z WG R R E 13,491
Prepayments, deposits and BRR - Fek
other receivables E Ath EUGK 22,650
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 917
Trade and bills payables B SRR RENEE (1,629)
Other payables and accruals HAitn e R R ERTIR B (70,777)
Deferred tax liabilities FIETRIE AR 27 (177)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value ] & & BIFEE A T EESE 19,692
Non-controlling interests IR (6,842)
12,850
Gain on bargain purchase recognised  R4RE W RIER A
in other income and gains in EUA R E
the consolidated income statement e 5 (902)
11,948
Satisfied by cash* LR € A A S 11,948

* Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, approximately
RMB3,584,000 out of the total consideration of approximately
RMB 11,948,000 will be paid in nine months after the

completion of the Acquisition.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)
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31. Business combinations (continued)

Business combination for the year ended 31 December
2012 (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisition
is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂjﬁiﬁi’%ﬁﬁ%}

20124128314

31. ¥ E6t (&)

BZ2012F12A31H L FE 2 ¥
&0t ()
FRARBEENRES RO ¢

RMB’000
AR®T T
Cash consideration paid ERNRE&NRE (8,364)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EEAReRESEED 917
Net outflow of cash and cash PREREEHHRESRNES
equivalents included in cash flows RESEEMRLFE
from investing activities (7,447)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, these
acquired subsidiaries generated revenue of approximately
RMB46,348,000 and net profit of approximately
RMB5,258,000. Since the acquisition, these acquired
subsidiaries contributed RMB25,815,000 to the Group’s
revenue and RMB1,812,000 to consolidated profit for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

Business combination for the year ended 31 December 2011

On 14 July 2011, COFCO (BVI) No.33 Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
purchase agreement with Longbow Int'l Investment
Development Limited (“Longbow”), pursuant to which
COFCO (BVI) No.33 Limited agreed to purchase all issued
share capital of Keep Excellence, which owned 48% equity
interest in a company located in Mainland China, in which
the Group owned 52% equity interest on the acquisition
date, at a cash consideration of RMB119,886,000. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share in the steel barrels market.

#H 2012128318 It F & itk
TRREBOHRBRARAIEENARE
46,348,0007c 2 Wz K 4 A R &
5,258,0007T 2 A8 F) o B YHE =18 LA
K HEREKRENMNBARRNER
2012F 12 A31H IEFE AAE BT
AR #25,815,0007T 2 W 25 &2 A
R#1.812,0007T Z 47 & K -

BZ2011F12A31HLFEZ £
st

R2011F7A148  AARIZEE
MEARPR(EEH#R RES)
%33F R ~ A HiLongbow Int’ |
Investment Development Limited
([Longbow]) T 37 B AR 1 5% + 1%
bk i (REERRES) $£33F
PR~ Bl E E A A K #119,886,000
TBREeREWBEHE (HES—
iz 7 R B A HY A R B948% A%
AR RKEBRH  X&EEHSF
HE2%l AER) < 2 #BE EITR
Ao WHEEIE QAN K B AR H
W I5 8 510 S B — 3615 -
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt FE SRR MHEE B! December 2012

31.

32.

33.

2012512 A31H

Business combinations (continued)

Business combination for the year ended 31 December
2011 (continued)

A summary of the fair values of the related identifiable
assets acquired as at the date of acquisition is as follows:

31.

EBaot (8)

BZ2011F12A31 AL EE 2%
&0t (&)

RUEE BB E 2 B WE T &
HRIEEZ AFEMMMT

Fair value

recoghised

on acquisition

RULEE

BRZATE

Notes RMB’000
HizF ARBTTT

FEf A E R

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payments

14 51,940
15 24,404

Total identifiable net assets at fair value

A ERBFEEN HERRE

76,344

WEHEE

Goodwill on acquisition

16 43,542

119,886

Satisfied by cash LR & A A

119,886

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purpose.

Business combination for the year ended 31 December
2010

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
acquired all issued share capital of International United
Group Limited from a third party at a cash consideration
of approximately RMB146,606,000. Cash consideration of
RMB106,606,000 was paid by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2010, and the remaining consideration
of RMB40,000,000 was paid by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2012.

Contingent liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, neither the Group nor
the Company had any significant contingent liabilities.

Pledge of assets

Details of the Group’s letters of credit, bills payable and
bank loans, which are secured by the assets of the Group,
are included in Notes 22, 24 and 26 to the financial
statements respectively.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)

32.

33.

EHSEC R ZBBANGRMAE
i o

HZ2010F12A31 AL EE 2 %7
A

& pf

#H E2010F12A8318 It F & » K
EEA—ZFE=FUBEFELT
BREMEEBEERARMNEINE
BIORA BaREHNAARE
146,606,0007C - NE B 2 RE =
2010%F12A31B L FEAZMIRE
KB F AR #106,606,0007T °
im & T (E A R #40,000,0007T 8l
BAREBREZ2012412831H 1k
FERLZT -

HREE

RIS RBERE - AEEHALQE
WEEMBARARALE -

BEHEE
AEBUABEFEERZERMN &

NEBERBITERZFBD BIEHR
BITESR R 522 ~ 241226 ©
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34. Operating lease arrangements 4, REHERH CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
As lessee ERAEBEA %%%Hg%g
The Group leases certain of its office properties, factories AEBRBLEERNLHERET “
and warehouses under operating lease arrangements. MAEYE BMEREER - ETEH
Leases for office properties, factories and warehouses are NEME BEREEHEANT—
negotiated for terms ranging from one to eleven years. Et+—%F -
At 31 December 2012, the Group had total future minimum KEER2012F12A31BIRE T
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases HAR 2 E 2 DRI RUEE S B TH AV A
falling due as follows: M2 REFEHRSARLT STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
2012 2011 B YRR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Within one year —F R 10,761 12,558
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE_EERF
(BREREEWF) 20,279 19,356
After five years AFi% 9,691 12,921
40,731 44,835
NOTES T0
" FINANCIAL
35. Commitments ¢ STATEMENTS
35. 7wk BB RRMEE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed BR ST RES4FT il 2 48 & A & 2
in Note 34 above, the Group had the following capital N RBEHEREAEBR &
commitments at the end of the reporting period: AEGELR -
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARETTT FIVE-YEAR
Capital commitments in respect of @M= - BE gmm%
property, plant and equipment: KR B NG REHHHS
Contracted, but not provided for BB RIEL B 377,152 244,033
Authorised, but not contracted for EHCEBERETA 486,668 1,071,482
863,820 1,815,618
The Company did not have any significant commitments as RATRMERASE R Y |EME
at the end of reporting period (2011: Nil). RNEGE (20114F « £&) -
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CONSOLIDATED 36. Connected and related party transactions 36. BERGRBAEALRS

STATEMENT OF

Eﬁf;g?}gi (a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BRARBI TR E A 5 Pt 2

e in these financial statements, the Group had the TGN REBRERNERGE
following material transactions with related parties ATETEARGHAT

during the year:

Group
AEE
2012 2011
STATEMENT Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
0F FIHICIA B ARBTR  ARETR
B Transaction with the ultimate B R A4 AR
holding company: NRAKRS -
Rental expense Hemx (ii) 744 701
Transactions with EARRE A A
related companies:* K5
Sale of products* HETR (i) 10,827 7,043
Rental expense B> (i) 391 391
NOTES TO
gmgﬂéﬁm Transactions with fellow e SN
B RRHEE subsidiaries: M5
Sale of products* HEEMm* (i) 78,306 76,122
Rental expense Her% (ii) 1,476 1,308
Interest income (Note 5) FEUWA (MzE5) (iii) 1,765 907
Interest expense (Note 7) MBS (FFE7) (iv) 6,217 2,643
* A certain portion of these related party transactions * REBELETHA  WEBEALXRS
constituted connected transactions or continuing B 5 T Eb (D 1ECZR T 1% BR B B XS
FIVE-YEAR connected transactions discloseable in accordance DA ERER S e
FINANCIAL with the Listing Rules.
SUMMARY
AEREHE # Related companies are companies under significant * BELR B AEERELSR L]
influence of the Group’s ultimate holding company. BAFEMLA] °

1 82 CPMC Holdings Limited #11& &5 A R A A
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36. Connected and related party transactions 6.EAEXRZFRAEALTRS
(continued) (&)
(a) (continued) (a) (&)
Notes: Hiet -
(i) The sales to the fellow subsidiaries, a related company, () EERKER G —FEZE
and a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary were REl R — BN B2 A — &
made according to the published prices and conditions FEFERR AR R A 35 & T3 IR 15 2
offered to the major customers of the Group. FIZEIERIEM T AEE T
BEEPAYEF AT o
(i) The rental expenses were determined with reference to (i) HEEZZREHTHSHE
the prevailing market rental. ZMEE °
(iii)  The interest income arising from deposits to COFCO (iii) £ B e B Tk e FLE
Finance was determined in accordance with the WA TS 12 B8 b B A R 2R 7T AT
prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated by People’s B 15 09 B8 7T N B T7 50 Fl &
Bank of China. BT o
(iv) The interest expense arising from loans from COFCO (iv) E4EHFIEHBEE L FE
Finance was charged with reference to the prevailing B 342 Z B A R R7T
RMB lending rates promulgated by People’s Bank of TR BT A REE K F
China and the prevailing market conditions. EREF RN
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) EEEE AT ZREMRFERE !
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF R ARET T

Trade receivables (Note 20): B S UK (FiFE20) -
Fellow subsidiaries EES NG
Related companies faE N A
A non-controlling shareholder —HE A RA

of a subsidiary —HIEERR AR R

Prepayments, deposits and BN EHek
other receivables (Note 21): E it fElR (Fi=E21) -
Fellow subsidiaries B 2B A A
The ultimate holding company ERARYERR A A

Trade payables (Note 24): B Z A (HisE24)
A fellow subsidiary —RHRZRWEBE AR

Other payables and accruals (Note 25):  ELfth e 7k K fE=t & A

(BizE25) :
Fellow subsidiaries & Z BB A &)
The ultimate holding company ERERYERR A A
Deposits placed: REFHR :
A fellow subsidiary —HRRMEAA

Interest-bearing borrowings (Note 26): 5+ B &5k (H3126) :
A fellow subsidiary —RHRRWEA A

20,553 29,975
6,295 3,822
3,159 =

52 97

- 135

386 328

56 48

701 =
252,541 211,802
259,000 56,000
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Except for the deposits to and the interest-bearing
borrowings from a fellow subsidiary, COFCO Finance,
the above balances are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

BRiF R R R B R R —F
BYHHIEE RREZAEN
FHEERIN - Ll iR T B IR
o TEHE B EEEERE
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(c) Transactions and balances with other state-owned

entities

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively “State-owned Enterprises”).
During the year, the Group enters into extensive
transactions, mainly covering purchases of tinplates
with State-owned Enterprises, other than the COFCO
Group, at terms comparable to those with other non
state-owned entities. In addition, the Group has certain
of its cash and pledged deposits and outstanding
bank loans with certain state-owned banks in the PRC
as at 31 December 2012, as summarised below:

(c) REARAERCHNXZR

EREE
AEBELNLCEREFND
E¥XZATPERFBAEER
LR - BERB S EMAR
BN HEER ST E
(B IEBRE]) - RFEER
EEEFRBEBRNIIHESF
EETRKERS  FEHSRE
BEOE  AEXSKREE
HIERB BRI LEES °
AN - 7A2012F12 4318 + &
ESERFTEETEARITES
FHREREBERFHUARKE
BIRITER - SR T -

Group
AEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Cash and cash equivalents BEFIRGEEY 1,009,299 1,290,400
Pledged deposits BEEFFE 28,297 57,913
1,037,596 1,348,313
Bank loans RITER 1,150,000 1,112,230

The directors consider that transactions with other
State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary
course of the business, and that dealings of the Group
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers
are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to
the substance of the relationships, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that none of these
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A F)

EERn BEMBEBLEN
ROREREEBBRERET
REE) - BACSEE B AD L R
BT & & E XA E A b
ENESHWLARIERHKT
BERE NEBEEHIEERM
AR e EBIR - i LB
Y ABRAREFREREA R
X -RKEAFEREBBLEN
BENEER BEERREL
RHpWIFERBY TR HME
ST T LAKEE -



Notes to Financial Statements
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36. Connected and related party transactions 6.HBEXFEBEALIRS CONSOLIDATED
(continued) (&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
_ BABSRER
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of (d) ZEEXTEEBEAENHSE
the Group:
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Short term employee benefits MHIE ERA 6,867 3,968
Post-employment benefits BERR 12 399 320 OFng/wCE&[
Equity-settled share option expense S EEERERAS 494 99 POSITION
Total compensation paid to YNTEEEIE AR SR
key management personnel ABREIE 7,760 4,387
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included FHEEME R E —SFERNE
in Note 8 to the financial statements. BHmKMIFT8A -
37. Financial instruments by category 37. REFESHNERMTIA
. . . . _ s o p NOTES TO
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial Zed T EBERNRBREHRAKRE FINANCIAL
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as (EVENE STATEMENTS
follows: U b

Group
AEE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Financial assets SHEE FIVE-YEAR
Loans and receivables BER R ERRIE E'mm'?#
Trade and bills receivables B S RUGR R B EE 698,258 609,484 REMBHE
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t ATERTER « & R
deposits and other receivables HEERNEmEE 32,263 22,412
Pledged deposits [ B EREE N 31,647 65,326
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 1,677,297 1,611,816
2,439,465 2,309,038
Group
REE
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Financial liabilities LRasE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEK A EZ S RIA RS
Trade and bills payables B SRR RENRE 496,939 855,796
Financial liabilities included in ST AR AR R R
other payables and accruals EETERANSRAE 254,145 233,286
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t /5 8817 & E fh f& 2k 2,420,924 2,190,996
3,172,008 3,280,078
Annual Report 2012 —Z— —FE -I 85
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37. Financial instruments by category (continued)

CRERESHEMTR (&)

Company
AT
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFIT
Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables ERREKRRIE
Due from subsidiaries R =UNGIE e 874,519 161,542
Financial assets included in prepayments, &t ATERTE « & &
deposits and other receivables HEM WS R EE 7,629 504
Cash and cash equivalents HERRESZEEY 756,732 803,267
1,638,880 965,313
Company
AT
2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFTT
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Z#EERATEZLRIEE
Financial liabilities included in other STAR AR R
payables and accruals EETERANSRAE 30,078 23,191
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 2,005,680 2,011,754
2,035,758 2,034,945

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets and
financial liabilities approximate to their respective fair

values as at the end of the reporting period.

CPMC Holdings Limited g i HIR AR

RBEAR UEeREERESR
BEMREEDFIEEQFERE -



38. Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk,
and cash flow and fair value interest rate risks), credit risk,
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Company and most of its subsidiaries’
functional currency is RMB since the majority of
the revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 22) and bank borrowings (Note
26), which are denominated in USD and HKD.

As at 31 December 2012, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against USD
with all other variables held constant, the profit
for the year for each of the years would have
changed mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on the translation of cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings denominated in USD
and HKD. Details of changes are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2012 ﬂjﬁiﬁi’%ﬁﬁ%}
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38. IBEMEEEERBE

Ft % B B 3%
AEEMESEAKSERR TR
MR mEER (BN
% BfER BREeRELRAFE
MxER)  FERRERBHESR
@ ARENEEBRAREEFES
TRERTIZOTAFERNE - X P
KR KRB EH AR BY R
BOEBEETHNZE -

(a) TR
() SMNERER

ARRREZEWE R A
MR AARE
BEERRZRKZH KA
TR B B A A EE TS o b
W& LB 2R B A PR JE A9 35 A
HERREERZ KRB
RWEERBEE  WIAE
TTRABTLENER S RIR
& FEY (K 7F22) kiR
TiE sk (FF5E26) °

20125124318 + fi# BT
EEMEHRFTE W
ARBHEGEITAE W
B5% BEBREEREN
MEKSERNE - B
ZHABREUETRET
FENEeRBEEEEY
REFHERKE B
B BEEFFRAT

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT

Profit for the year increase/(decrease) EEFEE M, CRl)

— Strengthened 5% — FHE5%
— Weakened 5% — B2 {85%

(9,967) (5,136)
9,967 5,136

Annual Report 2012 =& — — 434}

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FABSRER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
FHRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
REFHHE

187



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAREMER

STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
IBRRR

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
g

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
HETHHE

188

Notes to Financial Statements
B RS 3R I MISE 31 December 2012

2012512 A31H

38. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw
materials of the Group. The price for tinplate
and aluminium may be affected by market
demand and supply, domestic government
policy and other economic conditions. In order
to maintain a continued production cycle, the
Group has a policy of maintaining a certain
level of tinplate and aluminium inventories. The
level of the Group’s tinplate and aluminium
inventories will depend on orders on hand, the
price of tinplate and aluminium in the market and
the perceived future trend of the tinplate and
aluminium price. To partially minimise the Group’s
market price risk exposure, the Group enters
into commodities future contracts of aluminium.
In selecting suppliers, the Group usually takes
into consideration the price and quality of the
tinplate and aluminium. The directors believe it
is not necessary for the Group to enter into any
long-term supply contracts with its suppliers to
ensure stable material prices as there are various
sources of tinplate and aluminium and the Group
has not experienced any difficulties in securing
a steady source of high quality tinplate and
aluminium.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

Except for bank deposits with stable interest
rates, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets. The Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The Group
has not hedged its cash flow and fair value
interest rate risks. The interest rates and terms of
repayments of bank borrowings are disclosed in
Note 26.

CPMC Holdings Limited Hig 2= s AR A F]
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38. Financial risk management objectives and B HKEBMEEAEREE CONSOLIDATED
policies (continued) (#&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
RATRSRER
Financial risk factors (continued) BRRER (&)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) WTHEE (&)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (i RemERAFENMX
(continued) B b (&)
Management does not anticipate significant B R ER 1T 17 3R89 A1 % 58 A
impact to on interest-bearing assets resulting g REEF - mfil"]’ﬁ
from the changes in interest rates, because the HAR) 22 i) FHHE
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected éfF?éEEK%; ° STATEMENT
to change significantly. OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
o N BRI &
As at 31 December 2012, if interest rates on 201256124318 - fis B
bank borrowings had been 10 basis points B E B SR E R
higher/lower with all other variable held constant, TEEMELEH TR
the profit for the year for each of the year would 101E RS - AREEEE
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower FE R BB R
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings. L BEEESENEE
Details of the changes are as follows: SREEY BFHFHE
W NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
2012 2011 O
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARBFIT
Profit for the year increase/(decrease) FEFEE M ~
CRA)
- 10 basis points higher — EFH10EE 2, (764) (426)
— 10 basis points lower — TBR10fEEE, 764 426
5) G v EEER o
Except for the sales to the five largest customers B Bt 75 S 3% Bt 54 P st 9 [m) AR SUMMARY
of the Group as detailed in Note 4 to the financial SERAANEERFMEE BEMBHE

statements, the Group has no other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The carrying amounts of
pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and bills receivables and other receivables
included in the consolidated financial statements
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.

(i)

Deposits with banks

As at 31 December 2011 and 2012, all pledged
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
were deposited with licensed financial institutions
without significant credit risk. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance of
these counterparties.

Sh AEEY EEMEE RSP
MEERR - AWK
JIREMRTER B MR
SEEY  EHRURRER
SR AR E A YRR AR E B
RAKEMHREESREE
BRNRAEERR -

(iy SRITER

20114 2012412 A 31
B FiERERRITER
ME e MBEEEBYIT
ARFEeREE  WES
AEERER - EEEWL T
FEHeRZERSEHFH
TRA T AR -
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38. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Trade receivables

Management assesses the credit risk of
customers by taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

For those key customers with a long-term
relationship, on some occasions the Group
offered credit terms up to 90 days. The granting
or extension of any credit period must be
approved by senior management of the Group.

An allowance has been made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sales of goods,
which has been determined by reference to past
default experience and objective evidence of
impairment such as an analysis of the particular
customers and their financial condition and the
ages of the trade receivables.

The carrying amount of trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and
other receivables has been made in the financial
statements.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funds through adequate amounts of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions.

Except for non-current interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, all the Group’s other financial liabilities will
be settled within one year or on demand based on the
remaining contractual maturity date at the end of the
reporting period and their contractual undiscounted
payment amounts are disclosed in Note 37 to the
financial statements.
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38. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is
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as follows:
6 to
Less than less than 1to5
6 months 12 months years Total
i 6@ = 15%
6A 2R12(EA 5% &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTIT ARETRT AR®ETT ARETT
Group REH
Interest-bearing bank FHEIRTT
borrowings B 5,467 5,467 822,381 833,315
Company PiN/NE]
Interest-bearing bank FHEERTT
borrowings EpN 5,467 5,467 822,381 833,315

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, in which the
net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents.
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38.

39.

2012512 A31H

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group's strategy is to maintain a healthy gearing ratio.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
were as follows:

38.

PHEEREEEERBE
(&)

EXxEE ()
AEBEZRBEABEERBL RS
FRBEKF - RBEHRZEE
BELERMT

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTF T
Total interest-bearing bank and STEIRIT R EAM
other borrowings (Note 26) e 4asE (M13126) 2,420,924 2,190,996
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReERREEEY
(Note 22) (ffzE22) (1,677,297) (1,611,816)
Net borrowings EFEE 743,627 579,180
Total equity attributable to equity ZIN/NGT S SFEUN
holders of the Company FE(LMaRERS 3,550,396 2,554,313
Gearing ratio BEEBELE 21% 23%
39. HEHERSE

Events after the reporting period

On 18 February 2013, COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited (“BVI
34”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a share purchase agreement with Huang
Weibo (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which BVI 34 has
conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued
share capital of Victoria Industrial Limited (“Victoria
Industrial”), a company wholly-owned by the Vendor,
at a cash consideration of RMB294,411,439 (subject to
adjustment with a maximum consideration in the amount
of RMB375,000,000). Victoria Industrial holds 86.67%
equity interest of Sino-Asia Plastic Package (Zhongshan)
Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongshan Huanya”). Victoria Industrial and
its subsidiaries are engaged in the production and sale of
plastic packaging.

On 18 February 2013, Hangzhou CPMC, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
purchase agreement with Zhongshan Huihong Assets
Operating Management Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongshan Huihong”),
pursuant to which Hangzhou CPMC has conditionally
agreed to purchase 13.33% equity interest of Zhongshan
Huanya from Zhongshan Huihong at a cash consideration
of RMB37,000,000.

After the completion of above acquisitions, Victoria
Industrial and Zhongshan Huanya became the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company.

*

The English name of the above company is a direct
transliteration of its Chinese registered name.
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40. Comparative amounts

41.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the directors of
the Company have reviewed the components of the gains
and expenses and reclassified certain gains and expenses
in the consolidated income statement. Accordingly, the
corresponding comparative amounts have been revised to
conform with the current year's presentation. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the reclassification results
in a more appropriate presentation of the Group’s operating
results.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2013.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A FMBEE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is

AEEBRETEMBEFEREZRERE
E-BEEFTEEEEMEIEEZAE
gz 8 EREEMBRRLEST
EFoBR(WER) BEEARERT

as below: Xt
Year ended 31 December
HZ12AALEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB0O00 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
STATEMENT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Do - Revenue A 5,045,962 4,342,277 3,416,691 3,066,145 3,349,494
B Cost of sales SHER AR (4,202,510) (3,647,944) (2,890,984) (2,601,081) (2,950,436)
Gross profit EX | 843,452 694333 525707 465064 399,058
Other income and gain HA A R Iz
- net — B 86,759 90,835 81,100 12,145 30,357
Selling and marketing expenses  $4% K44 E (204,694)  (181,191)  (140,959) (117,832) (101,218)
Administrative expenses THER (241,854)  (209,812)  (162,115)  (143,533)  (127,814)
Finance costs HBER (45,973)  (31,150)  (17,532)  (34,593)  (75,793)
e Profit before income tax B B 45 B4 AT FI 437690 363,015 286,201 181,251 124,590
FINANCIAL Income tax expense FTSHiFAX (105,131)  (77,222)  (67,882)  (27,410)  (26,440)
STATEMENTS
BN Profit for the year BRI 332,559 285793 218319 153,841 98,150
Attributable to: e
Equity holders of the Company A2 Al#Ezs15H A 322,681 280,298 212273 146,873 92,462
Non-controlling interests R 9,878 5,495 6,046 6,968 5,688
332,559 285793 218,319 153,841 98,150
Assets, liabilities and EE > BEH
non-controlling interests FERES
FIVE-YEAR Total assets BAE 6,919,048 6022585 3,952,266 3,669,156 2,710,519
;mm;# Total liabilities BAE (3,267,376) (3,384,220) (1,551,116) (1,436,065) (1,534,723)
BERBHE Non-controlling interests FErERR AR (101,276)  (84,052)  (78,557)  (72,511)  (65,543)
3,550,396 2,554,313 2,322593 2,160,580 1,110,253
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